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We’re with you.
At Bank of Sydney, we’re proud of our multicultural, 

community banking foundations. With us, banking  

is personal. We go the extra mile for our customers  

with outstanding service, while providing real value 

with our range of great products and services.

In this report you’ll find a review of our strategy, 

highlights and performance over the past year.  

Most importantly, we’ll continue to put people 

first and say to our team, our customers and our 

community – we’re with you.
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A Message from 
our Chairman

2021 was undoubtedly a year of considerable social, environmental and economic impact, not just within 
Australia, but across the entire globe. It has therefore been heartening, indeed inspiring, to see our people, 
our customers and our diverse communities demonstrating enormous resilience during such challenging 
times. 

Our Board of Directors holds great faith in the integrity of our strategic vision and the renewed focus it 
has driven in our organisation. The Bank has made a number of wise investments over the last few years, 
in both infrastructure and systems, and these have now been delivered. As a result, we have been able to 
strengthen both our business and our brand, all while continuing to provide excellent personalised banking 
services to our customers. 

From a personal perspective, it has been a special privilege for me to witness, and be part of, the growth of 
the organisation over the last two decades.  It was particularly rewarding to be able to celebrate the Bank’s 
20th anniversary and launch our Grant for Good initiative during 2021. These milestones enabled us to give 
back to the community and to acknowledge the many people who have contributed to the organisation - 
especially those who have been with us from the beginning. 

On behalf of our Board of Directors, I thank all our people, our stakeholders and our partners for their 
steadfast commitment to serving our customers and communities. 

2021 was indeed a successful year.  I am confident that we have the right people, infrastructure and 
strategy to build on that success, and this makes me equally optimistic and excited for what lies ahead in 
2022 and beyond.

My best, 
Nicholas Pappas AM
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This past year we’ve continued to see the impact of the pandemic on our people, customers and 
communities. Safety and wellbeing will always be our main priority as we navigate the current climate and 
make adjustments and improvements to our business accordingly.

I wanted to acknowledge and thank our frontline teams who have constantly adapted to the changing 
circumstances, to best serve our customers and communities.

Our people and partners have continued to provide incredible commitment and expertise over the year, 
delivering greater capability for our business and brand with the following strategic projects:

• The strengthening of our IT infrastructure and systems through the Tech Uplift initiative.

• Customer servicing enhancements to provide greater convenience and access.

• Embedding a strong, new brand identity across all Bank of Sydney channels.

• Achieving greater budget transparency, accuracy and improved management with the introduction of a 
new budgeting system. 

• The streamlining of our compliance reporting and monitoring process, and the introduction of an 
external partnership for our Internal Audit function.

In 2021 we were also able to launch some inspiring initiatives. Firstly, we launched the Grant for Good - an 
annual $20,000 community grant providing help to projects, organisations and initiatives that promote 
social inclusion, health and wellbeing, sports and other fields that benefit our communities and create 
change for the better.

We also began an exciting partnership with the Sydney FC Men’s A-League team, as their Major Banking 
Partner for the 2021/2022 and 2022/2023 seasons.

These are truly wonderful programs that help build our brand and strengthen our connection to the 
community.

I’m incredibly grateful to our people, customers and communities for their support through 2021. It’s been 
an excellent start to 2022 and I look forward to what’s to come this year.

Kind regards, 
Miltos Michaelas

A Message from 
our CEO
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Business growth
Grow the business 
through a range of 
initiatives to deliver 
value to our customers, 
communities and 
partners. This will be 
supported through 
an optimised funding 
model.

People
Develop a team 
of people and 
partnerships that 
embody our values, 
embrace performance 
and accountability and 
display a responsible 
risk culture. We’ll 
ensure that our people 
have the skills and 
abilities to contribute 
to our strategic goals.

Our Strategy

Customer 
experience
Enhance each end-
to-end customer 
experience across 
every channel, for 
every customer. This 
ensures we deliver 
real value to our 
customers.

Our strategic pillars remain strong
Bank of Sydney’s strategic plan has maintained integrity within the current climate and drives the growth  
of the business and ongoing success. In particular, the strategic pillars have directed organisational focus to 
continue delivering better outcomes for our customers, communities and the business.

The strategy continues to comprise of the following pillars:

Operational 
performance
Maintain a focus on 
driving efficiency 
and effectiveness in 
everything we do. This 
includes an emphasis 
on automation and 
digitalising processes 
across the business. 
We have a governance 
framework that 
enables us to grow 
responsibly and 
sustainably.

The Bank of Sydney team is committed to continue delivering on the strategic plan, both this year and in the 
years to come, to provide an even better banking experience for our customers and community.
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2021 Business Performance

Similar to 2020, Australians faced a unique set of economic circumstances in 2021. While interest rates 
remained at record lows - stimulating a strong economic recovery - uncertainty and elevated credit risk still 
lingered. Bank of Sydney continued to manage these challenges with care and consideration by balancing 
the delivery of value to our customers with delivery of sustainable profits.

Throughout the pandemic, we’ve continued to offer fundamental and competitive banking products and 
services while pushing our ambitious transformation journey to deliver long term benefits for our customers. 

We recorded a net profit after tax of $6.6m, an increase of $4.5m from 2020, taking our total equity to 
$317m (+3%) and maintaining a strong Capital Adequacy Ratio of 21.58% (-24 basis points). Our strong 
capital position allowed us to invest in our transformation program which continues to drive growth for 
2022 and beyond.

Our profitability was driven by both an increase in net interest income to $49.6m (+6.5%) and a reduction 
in our operating costs to $40.4m (-4.5%). Overall, our net interest margin increased to 1.97%, up 31  
basis points.

With the above in mind, our financial strength, strong liquidity and credit metrics have positioned us well 
to build upon our transformation programs and to help grow the bank in 2022, while continuing to better 
serve our customers and communities.

Our prudent lending philosophy ensured 
that the bank managed well as the effects 
of the pandemic impacted our credit risk, 
and meant that we were able to continue to 
support our customers. We have maintained 
a very healthy loan portfolio and our 
provision as a proportion of total lending 
assets of 0.12% continues to be significantly 
below industry averages.

In 2021, we grew our core lending segments 
of Home Loans and Commercial Lending by 
3% and 25% respectively. However, this was 
offset by a decline in Trade Finance balances 
resulting in our overall loan portfolio 
remaining stable in 2021.

Capital adequacy

Loans and deposits

in $b

Loans Deposits
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2021 Highlights

Bank of Sydney continued to make valuable 
improvements to customer service experiences 
across all physical and digital platforms, providing 
greater convenience and access for all customers.
Across our branch network, nine Smart ATMs 
were installed, enabling customers to self-serve 
transactions such as cash deposits, cheque deposits 
and money transfers. Live Chat functionality was 
introduced on our website to provide a better 
online customer experience, with response rates 
improving to 90% and above. Call Centre service 
improvement created a better experience for 
customers and efficiencies for the bank. 

Enhancing customer service

Operational improvements
In 2021, Bank of Sydney prioritised the expansion of our operational efficiencies by establishing more than 
20 new automated workflows and integrations, removing manual processes and embedding policy rules and 
validations to significantly reduce assessment time.

Building on these platforms and systems enabled us to operate faster, and at scale, with fewer people. In 
2021, we were able to reduce our paper statements by 30%, replacing them with eStatements and helping 
us to significantly reduce costs. Our ability to automate processes, build workflows and digitise our internal 
processes has significantly enhanced the banking experience, both for our customers and our people. 

New customer services also expanded to provide notification updates on the stage of each enquiry.  
And on top of everything, post-call and post-case surveys were implemented to provide feedback on our 
customer service, helping us better understand how each interaction played out and where there was room 
for improvement.

As such, there has been:

50% decrease in time spent by our customers being verified through our call centre, due to 
improvements in our ID verification processes

30% reduction in outbound calls to support customer enquiries due to overall system improvements

92% Call Centre answer rate during the last quarter of 2021.
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2021 Highlights

Last year, we continued our efforts on strengthening 
the bank’s IT infrastructure through relevant projects 
and strategic reviews. This helped us achieve greater 
operational efficiency and system capability. 

The Technology Uplift initiative was established to 
improve our systems and provide the appropriate 
foundations to future-proof the bank, by addressing 
End of Life (EOL) infrastructure and applications, 
and upgrading our IT environment. The 
implementation of the project helped improve 
the resolution of IT incidents and service requests, 
maintain accurate records of the bank’s IT assets, 
proactively monitor our system and infrastructure, 
and comply with regulatory requirements.

Celebrating 20 years
Bank of Sydney reached a significant milestone in 2021, celebrating our 20th anniversary. We proudly 
recognised everyone who has contributed to our journey so far. In particular, the special group of people who 
have been with us since the very start were honoured with digital portraits commissioned (pictured below).

We held a number of celebrations and festivities across our branches and head offices, as well as an all-bank 
end of year virtual event. We look forward to always delivering outstanding, personalised banking service 
and enduring customer relationships.

We were also able to mitigate a number of environmental risks and failures while establishing a foundation 
for network segmentation through data centre consolidation. Additionally, we have completed a strategic 
review into our IT managed services to better assist our staff and our customers, and to improve efficiency 
and costs. This has resulted in the appointment of a new IT managed service provider for the bank.

IT transformation
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2021 Highlights

Community support

Grant for Good

To celebrate our 20th anniversary we proudly launched a yearly $20,000 community grant to provide 
help to projects, organisations and initiatives that promote social inclusion activities, health and wellbeing, 
sports and other fields benefitting our communities.

Sydney FC partnership

One of our most exciting initiatives of 2021 was our two-year commercial partnership with Sydney FC, 
which saw us becoming their Major Banking Partner for the 2021/2022 and 2022/2023 seasons. Bank of 
Sydney and Sydney FC’s strong affiliation with the city of Sydney, our shared brand values, audiences, and 
ambitions make this a particularly fitting partnership.

It has given us the opportunity to connect with more communities across Sydney and the nation, as well as 
helping us further solidify ourselves as a bank of the people. We look forward to welcoming Sydney FC into 
their new stadium in 2022.

The winner of our 2021 Grant for Good was 
Variety: The Children’s Charity. Their work in the 
community empowers disadvantaged children to 
live, laugh and learn.

The grant has been used to provide eight adaptive 
tricycles to two schools in regional Victoria, in 
communities where students are experiencing 
ongoing trauma and disengagement due to recent 
events such as the 2020 bushfires and the ongoing 
spread of COVID-19. These specially designed tricycles 
enable children living with a disability to participate 
in social bike riding activities, so they can freely and 
confidently play with children of all abilities.
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As always, the safety and wellbeing of our customers, community and people is our number one priority 
and we’ve continued to invest in initiatives that support them throughout the pandemic and beyond.

People are our Priority

Our customers

We’re passionate about going the extra mile to 
support our customers. As conditions have changed, 
health has remained of paramount importance and 
we have stayed open and accessible through all of 
our channels, whilst continuing to provide personal 
service. 

Last year, the bank continued to support financial 
hardship cases. From the number of financial 
hardship applications that were processed, the 
majority of these customers returned to a normal 
repayment schedule. Additionally, the collective 
provision was well below budget expectations at 
$2.37m - highlighting the strength of the loan book 
and the resilience of our customers to bounce back 
from financial hardship faced over the past two years.

Our people

Our people are the heart of Bank of Sydney and 
we’re hugely proud of their dedication, strength  
and performance.

With wellbeing a key focus, we’ve invested in 
several health and wellness initiatives to support 
staff and their families.

Employee Assistance Program

Health and wellbeing workshops

Yoga and meditation sessions

COVID-19 vaccination leave

Interim COVID-19 leave policy

Buddy Zeaiter

Employee of the year 2021 winner

Our Employee of the Year, Buddy Zeaiter, greatly 
embodies all of the bank’s values and led his team  
to successfully deliver a significant number of critical 
projects as part of the bank’s transformation journey 
throughout 2021.
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Looking Forward

2022: The year of growth
Australia’s economy is making a strong return with increased 
employment figures, GDP growth and inflation to support the 
country’s recovery from the pandemic. With that being said, 
uncertainties still remain, particularly with the ongoing impacts  
of COVID-19 and the current global geo-political climate.

We’ve approached 2022 with a sense of optimism and a continued 
focus on growing our bank to deliver even better outcomes for 
our people, our customers and our communities. With our four 
strategic pillars in place and significant investment in infrastructure 
and systems over the past years, we’ve established strong 
foundations to grow through 2022 and beyond.



2021

Governance



Board of Directors 

Dr Nicholas Pappas AM
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Dr. Pappas is a Sydney lawyer. In addition to his role as Board Chairman, he chairs 
the Bank’s Nominations and Remuneration Committee and serves on the Audit 
Committee. He is Chairman of South Sydney District Rugby League Football Club 
Limited (‘the Rabbitohs’) and South Sydney Members Rugby League Club Limited. 
He also serves on the Boards of the Steve Waugh Foundation – Australia, the 
Hellenic Club Limited and Melbourne’s Hellenic Museum. 

Dr. Pappas is the Honorary Secretary of the Greek Orthodox Archdiocesan Council 
and a Trustee of the Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of Australia Consolidated Trust. 
He was appointed to the General Division of the Order of Australia (AM) in 2013 for 
services to the Arts, Rugby League & the Greek-Australian community.

Ben Edney
Chairman of the Board Risk Management Committee

Mr. Edney is Chairman of the Board Risk Management Committee. He is an 
accomplished finance industry expert with 30 years domestic and international 
experience with National Australia Bank and KPMG in advisory, risk and 
restructuring. In addition to his directorship with Bank of Sydney, Mr. Edney is 
also chairman of Williams Holdings Limited in New Zealand, a director of Nimble 
Money Limited and Managing Director of Lempriere Capital and agPAY Pty Ltd.

Nikolas Hatzistergos
Chairman of the Board Audit Committee

Mr. Hatzistergos is the Chairman of the Board Audit Committee. He is also 
Managing Director of William Buck (NSW) Pty Ltd. He is President of the Hellenic 
Club Limited and a Director of the Management Board and Member of the 
Governing Council of Praxity (AISBL). He is also a Director and Chairman of the 
Audit and Finance Committee for South Sydney District Rugby League Football 
Club Limited.

Gregory Gav
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Gav is Director of Mars Property Group.

The Hon Steve Bracks AC
Independent Non-Executive Director

The Hon Steve Bracks AC was Premier of Victoria for eight years (1999-2007). He 
now advises several leading Australian finance and service sector corporations. 
He was appointed Chancellor of Victoria University in May 2021. Mr. Bracks chairs 
Maurice Blackburn Lawyers, the Melbourne Cricket Ground (MCG) Trust, Victory 
Offices Limited, and the AFL Strategic Community Investment Fund Advisory 
Board.  He chaired the Cbus Superannuation Fund from 2009 to 2021. He is a 
member of the Australian Republican Movement’s Republican Advisory Panel. Mr. 
Bracks is an honorary chair of the Trade Union Education Foundation and was an 
honorary adviser to the former Prime Minister of Timor-Leste, Xanana Gusmao 
from 2007 to 2017.
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Board of Directors 

Sarkis Nassif
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Nassif has over 35 years of experience in property investment, development, 
and construction. He is the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Holdmark Property 
Group, a private property group. In 2019 he was awarded the Ethnic Business 
Awards accolade for best medium to large business, and in 2017 he was awarded 
the Property Person of the Year by the property industry body, Urban Taskforce.

His philanthropic interests include the John Paul Foundation, which Mr. Nassif 
founded and Holdmark supports, to assist children and families facing hardship due 
to illness, tragedy, or adversity. He is also a donor to Westmead Children’s Hospital, 
St Vincent’s Hospital, the Warrah foundation and numerous other community 
organisations. Mr. Nassif is a Board Member of Bank of Beirut s.a.l.

Fouad Chaker
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chaker is also the Senior Executive Officer at Bank of Beirut, with more than  
45 years of banking experience.

Roger Dagher
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Dagher is also the Group Chief Financial Officer at Bank of Beirut, with more 
than 30 years of banking experience.

John Elisher
General Counsel / Company Secretary

Mr. Elisher joined Bank of Sydney in May 2019 and was appointed as company 
secretary in August 2019. Furthermore, he is a member of the Executive Team 
(admitted February 2022) and leads the legal department and customer advocacy 
function in his role as General Counsel.

He commenced his legal career in private practice working for a multidisciplinary 
firm. He more recently worked in federal government agencies in multiple 
executive roles. Mr. Elisher holds Bachelor degrees in Commerce & Law and a 
Master of Laws.
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Miltos Michaelas
Chief Executive Officer

Miltos is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Bank of Sydney, Australia. He 
has held this position since 2016 and has also had a long association with the 
organisation leading its set up and growth between 2001-2006.

Furthermore, Miltos has extensive experience as an International C-suite Executive 
and Board member. In particular he has been in charge of a number of international 
banking operations and also led the deleverage effort of a large financial group, 
earning him significant experience in M&A. Miltos has served as a member or Chairman 
with a number of board of directors, primarily in banking and financial services.

Miltos is a Chartered Director of the Institute of Directors UK, having also 
graduated with a BSc in Management and Computer Science (First Class Honours) 
from Aston University and an MBA in Financial Services (Distinction) from 
Nottingham University.

Victor Andersson
Chief Financial Officer

Victor is the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and is responsible for managing the 
Finance, Treasury, Data Management and Strategic Planning functions of the Bank. 
Victor has extensive experience within retail banking, with over 15 years spent in 
financial and regulatory disciplines across Australia and the UK.

Prior to joining Bank of Sydney, Victor was a Client Director with Deloitte. He 
delivered a wide range of assurance and advisory services to the financial services 
sector in areas including External Audit, Internal Audit, Strategy, Governance, 
Risk Management and Risk Culture. Victor holds a Master of Arts (Honours) 
in International Business from the University of Edinburgh and is a Chartered 
Accountant with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS).

Chiqui Biaro
Chief Audit Officer

Chiqui is the Chief Audit Officer (CAO) and is responsible for providing independent 
assurance on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of risk management, 
governance and internal control process within the bank. Chiqui joined Bank of 
Sydney in 2012.

Chiqui has more than 20 years’ experience in internal and external audit in 
Australia and overseas. She holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting and a 
Master’s degree in Business Administration. She is a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA), 
a Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA) and CPA (Phil).

Chris Chew
Chief Technology Officer

Chris is the Chief Technology Officer (CTO) and is responsible for driving the Bank’s 
IT strategy. His role is to enable the business to achieve strategic and operational 
goals. Chris is also responsible for leading the enterprise IT capabilities to maximise 
returns from technology investments while improving cost-effectiveness, service 
quality and business outcomes.

Chris has extensive experience in various IT leadership roles in banking and financial 
services, with a proven track record of over 22 years in achieving business outcomes. 
He also studied a Masters of Technology in software engineering and technology 
management. He will focus on the development and execution of our Digital and 
Core Banking strategy, which will enable and deliver our business strategy.

Leadership Team
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Leadership Team

Fawaz Sankari
Chief Banking Officer

Fawaz is the Chief Banking Officer (CBO) and is responsible for the Customer & 
Distribution Division, which includes Corporate & Institutional Banking, Retail 
Banking, Digital Sales, International Banking, Third-party Distribution and Product 
Sales. After joining Bank of Sydney as Head of Commercial Banking in May 2012, 
Fawaz assumed the role of CBO in November 2018.

With more than 20 years spent in retail and commercial banking, Fawaz has 
previously held senior executive roles with NAB and CBA Group, and sat on various 
external boards in both the education and business-commerce sectors.

Diana Sitnikoski
Chief - Credit Operations

Diana is the Chief - Credit Operations and is responsible for Credit Operations, 
Credit Recovery and Management of Non-performing Loans. Diana joined Bank of 
Sydney as a Credit Manager in 2005 before assuming her current role in  
December 2016.

Diana brings with her more than 20 years’ experience in retail and commercial 
lending, and holds a Bachelor of Economics and a CPA designation.

Gary English
Chief Risk Officer

Gary is the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and responsible for ensuring Bank of Sydney’s 
risk-management processes effectively protect our customers, employees and 
key stakeholders. Gary joined Bank of Sydney in 2017, bringing over 30 years’ 
experience in financial services through a range of roles across the sector.

Gary’s areas of accountability include Credit Risk, Market and Liquidity Risk, 
Information Security, Compliance and Operational Risk. Gary holds a Master 
of Financial Services Management from Macquarie University and a Platinum 
membership of the South Sydney Rabbitohs.

Bill Kalpouzanis
Chief Operations Officer

Bill is the Chief Operations Officer (COO) and is responsible for overseeing and 
managing Bank of Sydney’s ongoing operations and procedures. Bill has more than 
20 years of banking experience, as well as invaluable knowledge and expertise 
on how banking is rapidly evolving. He also has extensive leadership experience 
and roles in Banking, Transformations, Stakeholders Management, and Program 
Management.

Bill was the co-founder of Lodex, Australia’s first loans and deposits marketplace, 
and an innovative developer of a financial services digital wallet. Bill holds a Master 
of Science in Finance, and is a certified Financial Risk Manager (FRM) by GARP and 
Project Management Professional (PMP).
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd   

Directors’ report   

For the year ended 31 December 2021   

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of the Bank of Sydney Ltd (‘the Bank’ and ‘the Consolidated 
Entity’), for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the audit report thereon.       
          

Directors          

The Directors of the Consolidated Entity at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:  

Dr Nicholas Pappas AM

Chairman and Non-Executive Independent Director 
Appointed 26 March 2001     
      

Mr Greg Gav  

Non-Executive Independent Director  
Appointed 31 March 2005     
     

Mr Nikolas T Hatzistergos 

Non-Executive Independent Director  
Appointed 28 August 2006     
     

Hon Steve Bracks AC 

Non-Executive Independent Director  
Appointed 18 May 2011

    

Mr Fouad Chaker 

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 28 February 2011      
     

Mr Roger Dagher 

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 7 July 2016     
      

Mr Ben Edney

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 15 March 2017    
 

Mr Sarkis Nassif 

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 15 May 2020     
 

Board Operations
Board Audit  
Committee

Board Risk Management 
Committee

Board Nominations  
and Remuneration 

Committee

Directors

No. of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend

No. of 
meetings 
attended

N.G. Pappas AM 6 6 6 6 - - 2 2

N.T. Hatzistergos 6 6 6 6 - - 2 2

G.Gav 6 5 - - 6 5 - - 

H.S. Bracks AC 6 5 - - - - - - 

F. Chaker 6 5 - - - - - - 

B. Edney 6 6 - - 6 6 - - 

R. Dagher 6 6 6 6 6 6 2 2

S. Nassif 6 6 - - - - - - 

Prior approval from the Chairman was received for all directors regarding their apologies at Board and Board Committee Meetings. 
              
    

Directors’ Meetings          

The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of 
the Directors during the financial year were:   

Company Secretary 
Mr John Elisher
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd   

Directors’ report (continued)   

For the year ended 31 December 2021   

Principal Activities          

Principal activities of the Consolidated Entity are the provision of general banking services.     
     

Results          

The net profit of the Consolidated Entity was $6,622k (2020: profit of $2,061k). The result included a reversal of provisions for 
impairment losses for Loans and Advances of $205k (2020: $1,340k). At 31 December 2021, the Consolidated Entity’s net loan 
portfolio was $1,972m (2020: $1,978m) and its customer deposits were $2,064m (2020: $2,232m).    
          

Dividends          

No dividends has been paid or declared since the start of the financial year. 

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

           

State Of Affairs          

No significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity occurred during the financial year.     
      

Subsequent Events     

As at the date of these financial statements the Directors of the Consolidated Entity have considered the financial effects of 
COVID-19 on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements and consider the Bank a going concern.

No other events have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2021 that require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements.             
             

Likely Developments          

The Directors believe on reasonable grounds that inclusions in this report of further information regarding likely developments in 
the operations of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of those operations in future financial years is likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report.   
             

Auditor’s Independence Declaration          

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 22 of the annual financial report.     
      

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors

The Consolidated Entity has agreed to indemnify the Directors and certain senior executives, against all liabilities to another person 
(other than the Consolidated Entity or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position with the Consolidated Entity, 
except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Consolidated Entity 
will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses. 
 
No indemnities were paid to current or former officers or auditors during or since the end of the year.    
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Rounding Off          

The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC 2016/191 dated 24 March 2016 and in accordance with that Instrument, 
amounts in the financial report and Director’s report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
         
Signed in accordance with the resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
On behalf of the Directors:          

          

          

          

          

          

Nicholas Pappas           
Chairman          

          

Sydney, 21 April 2022

Nikolas Hatzistergos 
Non-Executive Independent Director 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
Bank of Sydney Ltd 
Level 1, 62 Pitt Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
 
22 April 2022 
 
 
Dear Board Members 
 

  
AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  IInnddeeppeennddeennccee  DDeeccllaarraattiioonn  ttoo  BBaannkk  ooff  SSyyddnneeyy  LLttdd  

 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration 
of independence to the directors of Bank of Sydney Ltd and its subsidiary (the “Group”).  
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Bank of Sydney Ltd and its subsidiary the year ended 
31 December 2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 

 
 
Rebecca Jones  
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
 
Tel:  +61 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 2 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Financial Statements 

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Interest income 2 56,835 70,848

Interest expense 3 (11,338) (30,303)

Net interest income 45,497 40,545

Non-interest income 4 4,129 6,046

Net operating income 49,626 46,591

Operating expenses 5 (40,366) (42,280)

Reversal of / (Provision for) impairment losses   
on financial assets measured at amortised cost  

11 205 (1,340)

Profit before income tax   9,465 2,971

Income tax expense 6 (2,843) (910)

Profit for the year  6,622 2,061

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the Consolidated Entity  6,622 2,061

Profit for the year  6,622 2,061

Bank of Sydney Ltd

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2021

The Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial report 
set out on pages 29 to 93.    
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 

and Other Comprehensive Income  

For the year ended 31 December 2021    

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Profit for the year 6,622 2,061

Cash flow hedges: 

Effective portion of changes in fair value  1,833 5

Net amount transferred to statement of profit and loss - - 

Other comprehensive income for the period, net    
of income tax    

26 1,833 5

Total comprehensive income for the year  8,455 2,066

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the Consolidated Entity  8,455 2,066

Total comprehensive income for the year  8,455 2,066

The Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and 
forming part of the financial report set out on pages 29 to 93.        
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Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position    

For the year ended 31 December 2021       

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Assets

Cash and liquid assets 7 47,541 35,300

Due from other financial institutions 8 93,463 72,005

Investment at amortised cost 9 447,900 455,415

Loans and advances 10(a) 1,972,403 1,977,716

Derivative financial assets 20 58 5,267

Intangible assets 12 12,704 10,501

Property, plant and equipment 13 51,930 51,580

Investment property 14 19,964 20,497

Deferred tax assets 15 3,090 4,129

Other assets 16 8,011 10,075

Total assets 2,657,064 2,642,485

Liabilities

Due to other financial institutions 17 4,572 3,670

Borrowings 18 251,596 62,468

Deposits 19 2,063,994 2,231,619

Derivative financial liabilities 20 1,275 4,036

Provisions 21 4,053 3,831

Lease liabilities 22 6,649 8,063

Other liabilities 23 8,158 20,248

Total liabilities 2,340,297 2,333,935

Net assets 316,767 308,550

Equity

Contributed equity 24 230,000 230,000

Retained profits 25 81,456 75,250

Reserves 26 5,311 3,300

Total equity 316,767 308,550

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial 
report set out on pages 29 to 93.
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows    

For the year ended 31 December 2021    

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities  

Interest and commission receipts 64,212 76,864

Interest payments (13,437) (35,392)

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (34,258) (32,054)

Bad debts recovered - - 

Income tax paid (2,487) (1,444)

14,031 7,974

(Increase) / decrease in operating assets

Loans and advances 2,869 83,016

Derivative assets 4,891 (449)

Other assets 2,064 (2,354)

Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities  

Due to other financial institutions  902 (961)

Deposits (165,526) (206,340)

Derivative liabilities (142) 182

Other liabilities (12,242) 4,325

Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities 35(b) (153,153) (114,607)

Cash flows from investing activities  

Payments for intangible assets  (4,526) (4,930)

Payments for property, plant & equipment  (3,568) (9,820)

Payments for investment property  - (1,936)

Purchase of investments at amortised cost  (153,750) (250,626)

Proceeds from investments at amortised cost  160,969 213,890

Net cash provided by investing activities  (875) (53,422)

Cash flows from financing activities  

Repayments of lease liabilities (1,414) (3,812)

Proceeds from drawdown of Term Funding Facility 189,128 62,468

Proceeds from issue of shares  - - 

Net cash provided by financing activities  187,714 58,656

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  33,685 (109,373)

Cash at the beginning of the financial year  107,323 216,696

Cash at the end of the financial year  35(a) 141,009 107,323

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial report set 
out on pages 29 to 93.
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2021

Notes
Contributed 

Equity

General 
reserve for 

credit losses

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Retained 
profits

Total 
Equity

Balance at 1 January 2021  230,000 6,401 (3,101) 75,249 308,549

Opening balance adjustment:

-  SaaS arrangements accounting policy change 1(ac) - - - (237) (237)

Transfers from general reserve to retained earnings 26 - 179 - (179) - 

Profit and loss - - - 6,622 6,622

Other comprehensive income, net of  
income tax 

Effective portion of changes in fair value - - 1,833 - 1,833

Net amount transferred to profit and loss - - - - - 

Total other comprehensive income  - - 1,833 - 1,833

 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,833 6,622 8,455

Issue of share capital 24 - - 

Balance at 31 December 2021  230,000 6,579 (1,268) 81,456 316,767

Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity    

For the year ended 31 December 2021       

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial 
report set out on pages 29 to 93.          
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)    

For the year ended 31 December 2021       

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial 
report set out on pages 29 to 93.

2020

Notes
Contributed 

Equity

General 
reserve for 

credit losses

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Retained 
profits

Total 
Equity

Balance at 1 January 2020  230,000 6,609 (3,106) 72,981 306,484

Transfers from retained earnings to general reserve 26 - (208) - 208 - 

Profit and loss - - - 2,060 2,060

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Net amount transferred to profit and loss - - 5 - 5

Effective portion of changes in fair value - - - - - 

Total other comprehensive income - - 5 - 5

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 5 2,060 2,065

Issue of share capital 24 - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020  230,000 6,401 (3,101) 75,249 308,549
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Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Notes to and forming part of the financial report    

For the year ended 31 December 2021    

1 Summary of significant accounting policies   

(a) General information

Bank of Sydney Ltd (‘the Company’) is a Company domiciled in Australia. Its registered address is Level 1, 62 Pitt Street, Sydney, New 
South Wales.          
 
The Company established a Residential Mortgage Backed Securitisation Trust with its legal name as ‘BHB Residential Securities Trust 
1’ (‘the Trust’). The Company acts as subscriber, manager and seller of the Trust. Perpetual Corporate Trust Limited is the Trustee. The 
Trust is a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company since inception. Please refer to Note 38 for further details.  
   
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary (‘the Consolidated Entity’) are disclosed in the Director’s report.   
 
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 21 April 2022.     
 
The significant accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report are:    
              

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Banking Act 1959 and Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001. For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the Consolidated Entity is a for-profit entity. The Consolidated Entity’s financial report complies with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.   
               
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.   
              

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial 
instruments, which are stated at their fair value.            
             

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 
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Bank of Sydney Ltd    

Notes to and forming part of the financial report    

For the year ended 31 December 2021   

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

(c) Basis of consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. Income and expenses of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income 
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.         

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
those used by other members of the Consolidated Entity. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated 
in full on consolidation.         

(d) Interest

Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments, as well as directly attributable fees, are recognised within 
‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the consolidated statement of profit and loss using the effective interest rate (‘EIR’) 
method.              

The EIR method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and allocating the interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period.  
 
The interest income/interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired financial 
assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance), or to the amortised 
cost of financial liabilities. For credit-impaired financial assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised 
cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECLs’)).  
 
The Consolidated Entity enters into foreign exchange swaps (‘FX swaps’) primarily to minimise its foreign currency risk. An FX swap 
consists of a spot and a forward foreign exchange impact which offset each other with a net cash outflow or inflow as forward 
points. The forward points expense or income in its economic substance are regarded as interest in nature, and recognised as 
“interest expense” or “interest income” in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.      
  

(e)  Fees and commission income

The Consolidated Entity has applied the following five-step recognition and measurement model for revenue recognition: 

1.  Identify the contract with a customer;      

 2. Identify the separate performance obligations; 

3.  Determine the transaction price;

4.  Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation identified in Step 2; and

5.  Recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. 

      

Annual fees

 Annual fees are charged to recover administrative costs related to credit cards and loan accounts. These are recognised over time 
when the performance obligations are met.        

      

Line fees

Line fees are charged for providing access to borrowing facilities for certain loan products. These are recognised over time when the 
performance obligations are met.  
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Fees and commission income (continued) 

Other fees and commissions

Other fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation associated with the fee is performed. 
  

(f) Net foreign exchange gain/loss 

Net foreign exchange gain/loss includes realised gains or losses on sales or purchases of foreign currency as well as unrealised gain or 
losses from revaluation of the Consolidated Entity’s net foreign currency exposure.      

  

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial 
assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are 
used by the Consolidated Entity in the management of its short term commitments.      
 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the Statement of Financial Position.     
    

(h) Due from other financial institutions

Due from other financial institutions comprise at call deposits and cash held with other banks and are carried at amortised cost. 
Interest on receivables due from other financial institutions is recognised on an EIR basis, as described in Note 1(d).   
  

(i) Financial instruments

The Consolidated Entity is a financial institution that holds an extensive range of financial instruments.     
            

Financial assets 

i. Amortised cost        

Business model is to hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

The Consolidated Entity includes cash, loans and advances to customers, financial assets due from financial institutions in this 
category.       

Loans and advances are initially recorded at fair value plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the loan and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment using the EIR method.  
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

        

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)        

Business model is to both collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets and the cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest.        

The Consolidated Entity does not hold any financial assets in this category.       
       

iii. Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)         

Where financial assets are held for trading or if the cash flows on the asset do not solely represent payments  of principal and 
interest. The Consolidated Entity can also elect to measure a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss if it eliminates or 
reduces an accounting mismatch.     

The Consolidated Entity includes derivatives that are designated in a hedging relationship in this category. Please refer to Note 1(l) 
for more information.            
     

Financial liabilities

The Consolidated Entity classifies all its non-derivative financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. These financial liabilities 
are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs using the EIR method.    

Derivative financial liabilities are measured at FVTPL.      

Securities sold and under repurchase agreements are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. These financial 
instruments are not derecognised from the balance sheet as the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the Consolidated Entity. 
       

(j) Securitisation Cost 

Costs incurred during and directly attributable to the establishment of the Trust, as described in Note 1(a), are capitalised as an asset 
on the balance sheet and recognised in the profit and loss on a straight line basis over the life of the Trust.   

          

(k) Impairment 

Non-financial assets         

The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
written down to the lower amount. The write down is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the reporting 
period in which it occurs.         

Annual Report 2021Page 32



Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Impairment (continued)

Financial assets        

Collective impairment provision         

The Consolidated Entity uses an Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL’) impairment model to determine its collective provision. The ECL model 
is forward looking and does not require evidence of an actual loss event for impairment provisions to be recognised.  

 

i. Measurement and recognition of ECL

The ECL is calculated as outlined below: 

ECL = Exposure at Default * Probability of Default * Loss Given Default 

Exposure at Default (‘EAD’)           

EAD represents the estimated outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time of the default.  

  

Probability of Default (‘PD’)        

PD represents the probability that a counterparty defaults. PD is determined using a roll rate model approach to estimate the 
% of exposures expected to roll to a loss/default state. The roll rates are calculated using internal historical past due data. The 
Consolidated Entity calculates independent PD rates for the following categories of loans and advances to customers: 

• Retail; 
• Commercial non-property; and
• Commercial property.       

The Consolidated Entity determines PD rates for treasury assets and trade exposures using historical external data in the absence of 
meaningful internal default loss history. 

  

Loss Given Default (LGD) 

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. The Consolidated Entity applies different LGD rates depending on the financial asset 
as well as the product.        

For customer loans and advances, the Consolidated Entity has used the Loan-to-Value Ratio (‘LVR’) as an indicator for potential loss 
in the event of default.  
 
   
ii. 3 Stage approach

In accordance with AASB 9 (December 2014), the Consolidated Entity calculates a collective provision which  reflects the ECL 
based on a 3 stage approach. The stage which the financial asset is in determines whether the ECL is calculated using a 12 month or 
Lifetime ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.         

12 month ECL represents the portion of the Lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instruments 
that are likely within 12 months after the reporting date.         
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)       

(k) Impairment (continued) 

Collective impairment provision (continued) 

  

Financial assets migrate between the 3 stages based on whether there has been a Significant Increase in Credit Risk (“SICR”) 
since initial recognition. In making this assessment the Consolidated Entity considers the following reasonable and supportable 
quantitative and qualitative criteria: days past due, internal customer rating, hardship exposures and restructured facility.   
              

The Consolidated Entity groups its exposures by the following products: ‘customer loans and advances’ and ‘treasury assets and 
trade exposures with bank counterparties’. The table below outlines the criteria under which customer loans and advances migrate 
to stage 2.

Stage 2  Number of Days Past Due Customer Rating1 Hardship Flag2 Restructure Flag

Retail Products =>30 days <90 days =>6 =<8 ✓ ✓

Business Loans =>30 days <90 days =>6 =<8 ✓ ✓

Commercial Property =>30 days <90 days =>6 =<8 ✓ ✓

Commercial Construction =>30 days <90 days =>6 =<8 ✓ ✓

1: The Consolidated Entity uses an internal customer rating process which grades customers from 1-10. 

2: This includes COVID-19 hardships where the Bank’s customers requested loan repayment deferral periods.

Stage 3  Number of Days Past Due Customer Rating1

Retail Products =>90 days =>90

Business Loans =>90 days =>90

Commercial Property =>90 days =>90 

Commercial Construction =>90 days =>90

Customer loans and advances
Treasury assets and trade exposures  

with Bank counterparties

Stage 1: 12 Month ECL 12 Month ECL

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL N/A

Treasury assets and trade exposures with bank counterparties migrate from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when the counterparty is downgraded 
by 2 or more notches in credit rating using independent rating agencies. There is no collective provisioning for any financial asset in 
stage 3 as there will be a specific provision applied in the event that the financial asset is past due.

The following table outlines how the Consolidated Entity measures ECL based on the 3 stage approach:

The table below outlines the criteria under which customer loans and advances migrate to stage 3. 
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Impairment (continued)

Collective impairment provision (continued) 

If the Consolidated Entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument that is measured at amortised cost at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Consolidated Entity measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the 
current reporting date. 

The Consolidated Entity recognises an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.      
      

iii. Macro-economic overlay 

The Consolidated Entity applies a macro-economic overlay to adjust the ECL for the impacts of macro-economic factors. The basis 
of the calculations takes into consideration key macro-economic factors, being medium & long-term debt, domestic credit growth 
and budget balance. These are used to determine three scenarios: Base case, Good Case and Bad Case. Relative weightings are then 
applied to each scenario to determine the final macro-economic adjusted ECL. In 2020, a further overlay had been applied to take into 
account the expected increase in the probability of default as payment deferral periods granted to customers of the Bank in response 
to the Covid-19 pandemic were due to expire in the first half of 2021. Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic conditions continued through out 
2021, the economic implications became more clear as the Australian economy rebounded from its contraction in 2020. As such, in 
the current year, the Bank has written back the Covid-19 overlay that it has determined to no longer be required.   
             
Specific provision         
Specific provisions are considered for all customer loans and advances that are past 90 days overdue and where a loss is anticipated. 
For all treasury assets and trade exposures with bank counterparties specific provisions are raised when the external rating of the 
counterparty drops to below investment grade. A specific provision is raised for any estimated shortfall between the Consolidated 
Entity’s exposure and the net realisable value of the financial asset.        
            

Write offs         
The Consolidated Entity writes off a financial asset where there is information indicating that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Consolidated Entity’s recovery procedures. Any 
recoveries made are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.        
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

      

(l) Derivative instruments 

The Consolidated Entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and  interest rate risks 
arising from operational and financing activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the Consolidated Entity does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.   

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial 
instruments are carried at fair value. For derivatives that are not designated in a cash-flow hedge relationship, the gain or loss on 
remeasurement of fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss through the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

The fair value of interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting period are determined by calculating the present fair value of 
estimated future cash flows using applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates and the credit risk of the parties to the 
contract.

       

Cash flow hedges 

A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with 
all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss. The 
Consolidated Entity hedges against interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate deposit liabilities. This objective is 
achieved by entering into interest rate swaps whereby the Consolidated Entity receives floating interest and pays fixed interest. The 
hedging instrument in this case is the interest rate swap and the hedge item is the floating rate deposits.   

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in cash 
flow hedge reserve to the extent that the hedge is effective. If the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is terminated, 
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in cash flow hedge reserve 
remains there until the forecast transaction occurs. Refer to Note 26 for cash flow hedge reserve movement.    
    

(m) Borrowings 

In 2020, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and to stimulate the economy, the Reserve Bank of Australia (‘RBA’) provided Authorised 
Deposit-taking Institutions (“ADI’s”) access to the Term Funding Facility (“TFF”), a low cost funding facility with a 3 year term. There 
were no additional terms and conditions associated with the TFF, other than the pledging of securities that meet the RBA eligibility 
criteria, as collateral. The Consolidated Entity accesses this funding  by entering into repurchase agreements with the RBA.  

The TFF is accounted for as borrowings with the securities pledged as collateral and accordingly is carried at amortised cost. As 
the funding is, in effect, a below market interest loan from a Government entity, the difference between a market rate for an 
instrument with similar terms and conditions at inception and the 25 basis points (10 bps in subsequent tranches) is recognised as a 
Government Grant under AASB 120 Accounting for Governemnt grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance. The government 
grant is presented as part of the TFF liability.        

Interest relating to securities lending and repurchase agreements are recognised as interest expenses in the profit and loss, using 
the EIR method, over the expected life of the agreements. The benefits of the grant are deducted from the interest expense and 
recognised systematically in line with the interest expense charges. As such, the net interest expense will reflect the TFF cost of 
borrowing of 25 basis points (10 basis point for subsequent tranches).

Refer to Note 18 for more details.        

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)        
     

(n) Intangible assets 

Computer software 

Software acquired by the Consolidated Entity is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset when the Consolidated Entity is able to demonstrate its 
intention and ability to complete the development and use the software in a manner that will generate future economic benefits 
and can reliably measure the costs to complete the development.        

The capitalised costs of internally developed software include all costs directly attributable to developing the software, and are 
amortised over the useful life. Internally developed software is stated at capitalised cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment.             

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Both purchased and internally generated software has a finite useful life and are amortised using the straight-line method, at a rate 
applicable to the expected useful life of the asset, not exceeding 10 years.        
      

The amortisation rates used are as follows:

Amortisation rates and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness. When changes are made, adjustments are reflected 
prospectively in current and future periods only. Amortisation expenses and any impairment charges are recognised in the income 
statement.

2021 2020

10% to 20% 10% to 20%
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

2021 2020

Property, plant and equipment  

Land and buildings* 2.50% 2.50%

Leasehold improvements 10% 10%

Property, plant and equipment 10% - 33% 10% - 33%

Furniture and fittings 10% - 33% 10% - 33%

Computer hardware 10% - 25% 10% - 25%

Motor vehicle 13% 13%

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)        
 

(o) Property, plant and equipment 

Items of Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.    
     

Useful lives  

All assets, apart from land, have limited useful lives and are depreciated from date of acquisition, or, for internally constructed assets, 
from the time it is completed and ready for use through the statement of profit and loss using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives. 

Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually to ensure they appropriately reflect residual values and estimated useful lives. 
When changes are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future periods only. The depreciation rates used for 
each class of asset are as follows:

* Land is an indefinite life asset and is not depreciated.    

(p) Investment property    

Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. An investment property is derecognised 
upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected 
from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property is included in profit or loss.   

Investment property is depreciated from its date of acquisition through the statement of profit and loss using the straightline 
method over its estimated useful life.

The depreciation rate and method is reviewed annually to ensure it reflects the residual value and estimated useful life. Adjustments 
are made prospectively where there are changes. The depreciation rate used for investment property is:    
  

2021 2020

Investment Property - Building  2.50% 2.50%
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(q) Income tax        

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.      

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxs measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary difference when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available  against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.       

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available  against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.       
 

(r) Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entity “BHB Residential Securities Trust 1” have formed a tax-consolidated 
group with effect from 1 January 2015 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-
consolidated group is Bank of Sydney Limited. The Trust is the only other member of the tax-consolidated group.   

Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the 
‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity 
and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the 
tax-consolidated group).         

Entities within the tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing deed, under the terms of which, the consolidated group 
allocates an income tax liability by reference to the income tax liability it would have incurred if it were not a member of the 
consolidated group. Where a contributing member is itself a trust, the deed provides for a reduction in the member’s Notional 
Income Tax Amount to the extent it would not be assessed to the trustee under sections 99 or 99A of the Tax Act. This should have 
the effect of allocating a nil amount to the Trust if the Head Company is beneficially presently entitled to all of the income of the 
Trust.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)        
              
(s) Leases

Lessee accounting        

The Consolidated Entity assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Consolidated Entity 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these 
leases, the Consolidated Entity recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Consolidated Entity uses its 
incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate was determined with consideration to:

•  An appropriate reference rate; and

• A financial spread adjustment to account for lease term and the Consolidated Entity’s credit spread. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; and

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement 
date. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the 
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.   

The Consolidated Entity remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever: 

• The lease term has in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate;

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised leased payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.    
 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before 
the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Refer to Note 1(k) for the Consolidated  Entity’s accounting policy for impairment.   

Whenever the Consolidated Entity incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it 
is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised 
and measured under AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. These costs are included in the related right-
of-use asset.  
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(s) Leases (continued)

 Lessee accounting (continued) 

       

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Consolidated Entity expects to exercise a 
purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at 
the commencement date of the lease.    

For details regarding the Consolidated Entity’s right of use assets, refer to Note 13.     

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use 
asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments 
occurs.            

Lessor accounting 

The Consolidated Entity enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment property.   

Leases for which the Consolidated Entity is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is  classified as a finance lease. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.         

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Consolidated Entity’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the Consolidated Entity’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Consolidated Entity applies AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts from 
Customers to allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.      
   
(t) Deposits 

Deposits comprise current deposits, savings deposits and term deposits. Deposits are initially measured at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Interest is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss using the EIR method described in Note 1(d).       
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)        
  

(u) Employee entitlements         

i.  Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

The provision for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and annual leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ 
services provided up to the balance sheet date, calculated at undiscounted amounts based on expected wage and salary rates 
including related on-costs.

ii. Long service leave

The provision for employee entitlements to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to 
be made resulting from employees’ services provided up to the balance sheet date.      
 

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected 
settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attaching to national government securities at the 
balance sheet date which most closely match the  terms of maturity of the related liabilities. 

iii. Superannuation plan

The Consolidated Entity contributes to a defined contribution superannuation plan. Contributions are expensed as they are incurred. 

(v) Financial guarantees and letters of credit

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Consolidated Entity to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. These 
contracts can take the form of guarantees or letters of credit.       

After initial recognition, an issuer of such a contract shall subsequently measure it at the higher of: 
(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with Note 1(k) (impairment) or 
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the 
principles of AASB 15.

         

(w) Derecognition of financial assets

The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
Consolidated Entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Consolidated Entity recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Consolidated Entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial  asset, 
the Consolidated Entity continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for    
the proceeds received.          

Residential Mortgages subject to securitisation arrangements between the Company and the BHB Residential Securities Trust (the 
‘Trust’) are recognised by the Company in its separate financial information (refer to Note 37) and are presented as ‘Loans and 
advances - Held by Trust subject to securitisation’. These are also included in the Consolidated Entity’s balance sheet.    
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)        
            

(x) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Consolidated Entity has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. 

       

(y) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.       

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected.      

The following are the critical judgements and estimates that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Consolidated 
Entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial report.  
      

Fair value of financial instruments 

As described in Note 29, the Consolidated Entity uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are based on observable 
market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 29 provides detailed information about the 
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments, as well as the detailed disclosure of carrying 
amounts and estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities.       

The Directors believe that the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions used are appropriate in determining the fair value of 
financial instruments.        

          

Impairment 

Non-Financial assets         

As described in Note 1(k), determining whether an individual non-financial assets is impaired requires identification of an objective 
indication of impairment as well as estimation of the value of the recoverable amount.   

In the prior year, as a response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Federal and State government implemented a number of measures 
to support the Australian economy. One of those measures was the establishment of a mandatory code of conduct for commercial 
property lessors to provide temporary rent relief in the form of rental waivers and deferrals to small to medium entities (“SME”) 
affected by the pandemic. This code of conduct continued to apply through 2021 as the pandemic conditions persisted. The 
Consolidated Entity has considered the impacts of rent relief provided to its tenants as well as the wider impact of the pandemic 
on commercial property values and determined that there were no objective indicators of impairment, with Sydney commercial 
property prices remaining robust through 2021 and continued demand in the Consolidated Entity’s tenanted spaces, particularly as 
the economy rebounded strongly through 2021.        

The calculation of recoverable amount requires the Consolidated Entity to estimate the expected future cash flows, future credit 
losses and suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.       
 

          

Annual Report 2021Page 43



Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(y) Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

        

Financial assets   

Management estimates and judgements are applied when: 

     
Assessing the Consolidated Entity’s business model     

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) 
and the business model test. The Consolidated Entity determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial 
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant 
evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the 
performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Consolidated 
Entity monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are 
consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Consolidated Entity’s continuous 
assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is 
not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. 
No such changes were required during the periods presented.        
      

Calculating impairment provisions for financial assets

Note 1(k) outlines the Consolidated Entity’s approach to collective provisioning and the following components are the key estimates 
and judgements made in relation to the measurement of the collective impairment provision:    

• SICR: Judgement is used in determining what criteria to assess in the assessment of what constitutes a SICR as outlined in Note 
1(k) as well as the underlying assessment of the individual financial asset. These criteria are assessed at each reporting date. 

• Establishing groups of assets with similar risk characteristics as outlined in Note 1(i) and 1(k) and 27(b).   

The Consolidated Entity monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they 
remain relevant.            

• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to determine the macroeconomic overlay as 
outlined in Note 1(k).           

The macro-economic overlay methodology, inputs and assumptions are reviewed each period.    

• PDs and LGDs, as outlined in Note 1(k), are key estimates impacting the measurement of the ECL.   

The provisioning methodology, including PD and LGD assumptions, data, expectations and output is reviewed each period.   
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

(z) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated to Australian currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the rates of exchange 
ruling on that date.         

Exchange differences relating to amounts payable and receivable in foreign currencies are brought to account as exchange gains or 
losses in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the period in which the exchange rates change.    
 

(aa) Application of new and revised standards 

In the current year, the Consolidated Entity has applied a number of amendments to AASBs issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021, and therefore 
relevant for the current year end, including:        

The following accounting standards and pronouncements were also mandatorily adopted for the financial year.

• AASB 2020-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2  

 These did not have a material impact on adoption.        

         

(ab) Standards and Interpretations issued not yet adopted     

The following amended standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Consolidated Entity’s consolidated financial statements: 

• AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and Other Amendments;

• AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting 
Estimates; and 

• AASB 2021-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabiltiies arising from a 
Single Transaction        

(ac) Changes in accounting policies - Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Consolidated Entity revised its accounting policy in relation to configuration and 
customisation costs incurred in implementing SaaS arrangments with cloud and managed services providers. The change in 
accounting policy resulted from the implementation of agenda decisions issued by the IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) 
clarifying its interpretation of how current accounting standards apply to these type of arrangements. 
 
SaaS arrangements are service contracts providing the Group with the right to access the cloud provider’s application software over 
the contract period. Costs incurred to configure or customise the cloud provider’s application software are recognised as operating 
expenses when the services are received. 
 
The change has been applied in the current year, with the after-tax impacts for the prior year recognised as an opening retained 
earnings adjustment of $237k. 

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Cash and liquid assets 66 349

Due from other financial institutions   16 59

Investments at amortised cost   

- banks 5,387 7,026

- related party - 116

Loans and advances 51,366 63,297

Other interest income – Parent Entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l.  - 1

56,835 70,848

Cash  

- banks 2,146 2,062

- Parent Entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l. 213 340

Deposits 8,595 27,515

Other borrowings - repurchase agreement  279 76

Interest expense - leases 105 310

11,338 30,303

Net fees and commission income  1,934 2,491

Gain from sale of securities - - 

Net foreign exchange gain 1,684 1,034

Unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives  (318) 1,595

Rental income 829 926

4,129 6,046

Staff expenses 20,002 20,613

Computer expenses 6,018 4,955

Occupancy costs 1,306 1,823

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  3,686 4,397

Amortisation of intangibles 1,915 1,847

Marketing expenses 962 1,010

Other operating expenses 6,477 7,636

40,366 42,281

2 Interest income

3 Interest expense

4 Non-interest income

5 Operating expenses
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Current tax expense

Current period 3,861 857

Adjustment for prior period (635) 294

3,226 1,151

Deferred tax expense 

Deferred tax expense recognised in the current year 254 (535)

Adjustment for prior period  (635) 294

(381) (241)

Total income tax expense  2,845 910

Profit before tax 9,465 2,970

Income tax using the Consolidated Entity’s tax rate of 30% 2,840 891

Prior Year adjustment - - 

Non-deductible expenses 3 19

Income tax expense 2,843 910

Cash at bank 2,618 5,180

Cash held with central bank 44,923 30,120

47,541 35,300

Total cash and liquid assets are all variable interest rates and are unsecured.     

6 Taxation

(a) Income tax expense

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit

7 Cash and liquid assets
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

8 Due from other financial institutions

 

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Within Australia 80,645 65,577

Related parties - Bank of Beirut s.a.l. 52 22

Overseas 12,771 6,425

Less: Impairment Loss Allowance (5) (19)

93,463 72,005

Impairment Loss Allowance

Opening balance (19) (31)

Reversal / (Charge) to consolidated statement of profit and loss 14 12

Closing balance (5) (19)

 
Refer to Note 27(b)(iii) for analysis of movement in gross balance and impairment loss allowance during the year. 

Residual maturity analysis  

At call - - 

Up to 1 month 93,468 72,024

1 to 3 months - - 

Less: Impairment Loss Allowance (5) (19)

93,463 72,005

9 Investments at amortised cost  

 

Certificate of Deposits 53,984 33,988

Floating rate notes 294,925 339,054

Fixed rate bonds 99,304 82,577

Less: Impairment Loss Allowance (313) (204)

447,900 455,415
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9 Investments at amortised cost (continued) 

 

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Residual maturity analysis

Up to 1 month 30,018 20,051

1 to 3 months 116,031 27,506

3 to 12 months 22,678 168,117

12 months to 5 years 273,330 230,779

Over 5 years 6,156 9,166

Less: Impairment Loss Allowance (313) (204)

447,900 455,415

Impairment Loss Allowance

Opening balance (204) (61)

Reversal / (Charge) to consolidated statement of profit and loss (109) (143)

Closing balance (313) (204)

Refer to Note 27(b)(iii) for analysis of movement in gross balance and impairment loss allowance during the year.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

Annual Report 2021Page 49



Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Loans and advances 1,960,263 1,957,718

Overdrafts 14,550 22,710

Gross loans and advances 1,974,813 1,980,428

Less -

 - Collective provision 11 (2,371) (2,690)

 - Specific provision 11 (39) (22)

Net loans and advances 1,972,403 1,977,716

Residual maturity analysis (excluding provisions)

Overdrafts 14,568 22,744

Up to 1 month 51,087 141,163

1 to 3 months 1,810 6,943

3 to 12 months 20,333 26,154

12 months to 5 years 71,732 29,164

Over 5 years 1,815,284 1,754,260

1,974,814 1,980,428

Residual maturity analysis was performed based on contractual final maturity dates of loans and advances. Refer to Note 27 for 
additional disclosures.

(b) Internal Securitisation 

As further disclosed in Note 38 – Internal Securitisation, $452m (2020: $413m) of Residential Mortgages have been sold and are 
held by a controlled subsidiary, BHB Residential Securities Trust 1, as part of an internal securitisation.   

For further details related to the internal securitisation securities pledged by the Consolidated Entity to drawdown on the TFF refer 
to Note 18.             
     

10 Loans and advances
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

11 (a) Provision for Impairment

(b) Impaired assets

The balance of past due loans and impaired loans as described and explained in Note 1(k) are as follows:

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

(a) Provision for Impairment 

Collective provisions

Opening balance (2,690) (1,434)

(Charged) / Reversal to consolidated statement of profit and loss 318 (1,257)

Closing balance (2,371) (2,690)

Specific provisions

Opening balance (21) (69)

Write off against provision (18) -

Reversal to consolidated statement of profit and loss - 48

Closing balance (39) (21)

Reconciliation of impairment losses  

Collective provisions  

 - current year (charge)/reversal 318 (1,257)

Specific provisions

 - current year (charge)/reversal (18) 48

Impairment Loss Allowance

 - current year (charge)/reversal (95) (131)

Write off of Interest - - 

Write off of loan Principal - - 

Impairment (loss) / reversal of loss 205 (1,340)

The Consolidated Entity did not recognise interest income on impaired assets as at 31 December 2021. (2020: Nil).

Loans and advances to customers

- Past due but not impaired 24,891 18,128

- Impaired 39 21

Gross impaired and past due loans 24,930 18,149

            Less: Specific provision (39) (21)

Net impaired and past due loans 24,891 18,128

Refer to Note 27(b) for further details.

Annual Report 2021Page 51



Financial Statements 

12 Intangible assets

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Computer software

At cost 18,545 14,624

Less: Accumulated amortisation (5,841) (4,123)

12,704 10,501

Opening balance 10,501 8,729

Additions 4,526 4,930

Transfer to Retained Earnings due to accounting policy change 1(ac) (339) - 

Net book value of assets disposed during the year (69) (1,311)

Amortisation expense (1,915) (1,847)

Net book value 12,704 10,501

13 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment

At cost 6,152 3,433

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,944) (1,742)

4,208 1,691

Leasehold improvements

At cost 4,360 4,961

Less: Accumulated amortisation (3,373) (3,849)

987 1,112

Motor Vehicle

At cost 59 59

Less: Accumulated amortisation (43) (36)

16 23

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     
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13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Right of Use Asset 12,807 12,503

At cost (6,889) (5,436)

Less: Accumulated amortisation 5,918 7,067

Land and Buildings

At cost 41,834 41,835

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,033) (148)

40,801 41,687

Net book value 51,930 51,580

Reconciliation of the carrying values of Property, plant and equipment and leasehold property are set out below:

Property, plant and equipment at cost

Opening balance 1,691 1,916

Additions 2,957 1,122

Transfer - (617)

Net book value of assets disposed during the year (58) (319)

Depreciation expense (382) (411)

4,208 1,691

Leasehold improvements at cost

Opening balance 1,112 961

Additions 124 37

Transfer - 617

Net book value of assets disposed during the year (6) (156)

Depreciation expense (243) (347)

987 1,112

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     
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13 Property, plant and equipment at cost (continued)

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Motor vehicles at cost

Opening balance 23 30

Additions - - 

Depreciation expense (7) (7)

16 23

Right of use asset at cost

Opening balance 7,067 11,140

Additions 487 - 

Depreciation expense (1,636) (4,073)

5,918 7,067

Depreciation was accelerated in the current year due to the closure of three branches during the financial year. 

Land and Buildings at cost

Opening balance 41,687 27,264

Additions - 8,661

Transfers (Refer to Note 14) - 5,910

Depreciation expense (886) (148)

40,801 41,687

Net book value 51,930 51,580

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

In the prior year, the Consolidated Entity transferred a portion of Investment property to property, plant and equipment as the 
Consolidated Entity did not seek to renew the expiring leases and instead utilise the space as office space for the Bank totalling 
$5,910 thousand (2019: $9,175 thousand). There was no such transfer in 2021. 
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14 Investment property

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Investment property

At cost 21,310 21,310

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,346) (813)

19,964 20,497

Reconciliation of the carrying values of Investment property are set out below:

Investment property at cost

Opening balance 20,497 25,189

Additions - 1,793

Transfers (Refer to Note 13) - (5,910)

Depreciation expense (533) (575)

19,964 20,497

15 Deferred tax assets

Deferred income tax assets are attributable to the following items:

Deferred tax assets

Provisions 2,202 2,177

Cash flow hedge reserve 543 1,329

Fixed assets 165 364

Leased asset 220 299

Total deferred tax asset 3,130 4,169
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15 Deferred tax assets (continued)

2021 2020

Notes $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Securitisation start-up costs (30) (30)

Prepaid balances (10) (10)

Total deferred tax liabilities (40) (40)

Net deferred tax asset 3,090 4,129

Reconciliation of balances of net deferred tax assets are set out below:

Deferred tax assets

Prior year ending balance 4,129 3,596

Deferred tax credit/(debit) to income statement                                         6(a) (253) 535

Deferred tax charges recognised in equity for cash flow hedge (786) (2)

Net deferred tax asset 3,090 4,129

16 Other assets

Prepayments 2,568 2,388

Current tax receivable - 1,655

Other receivables - Parent entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l. - - 

Other 5,443 6,032

8,011 10,075

Other comprises mainly sundry debtors and other miscellaneous debit balances.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     
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17 Due to other financial institutions   

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Parent entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l. 68 231

Australia - - 

Overseas 4,504 3,439

4,572 3,670

Please refer to Note 34 for further details on related parties and transactions in during the financial year.  

18 Borrowings

Term Funding Facility 251,596 62,468

As at 31 December 2021, the Consolidated Entity has drawn down $251.6m (2020: $62.5m) from the TFF (Facility limit of $251.6m). 
As detailed in Note 1(m), to access the TFF, the Consolidated Entity is required to pledge securities that meet the RBA eligibility 
criteria as collateral. The Consolidated Entity retains risks and rewards of these securities, and therefore does not derecognised 
these assets. The following is the carrying value of A-Notes from the Consolidated Entity’s internal securitisation provided to the 
RBA for this purpose.

Pledged value 

BHB Residential Securities Trust 1 - A Notes  452,010 98,600

19 Deposits

Current 537,977 457,031

Savings 189,938 197,695

Term 1,336,079 1,576,893

Total deposits 2,063,994 2,231,619

20 Derivative financial instruments

The Consolidated Entity enters into derivative transactions, which provide economic hedges for exposures to market risk.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     
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2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Assets

Foreign currency forwards not designated in a hedging relationship 
- Parent entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l   

- - 

Foreign currency forwards not designated in a hedging relationship  
- Other

58 5,267

58 5,267

Liabilities

Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge  

- Local banks 1,148 3,767

Foreign currency forwards not designated in a hedging relationship  
- Parent entity - Bank of Beirut s.a.l   

- - 

Foreign currency forwards not designated in a hedging relationship 
- Other 

127 269

1,275 4,036

The following tables detail various information regarding interest rate swap contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period and their related hedged items.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

Cash flow hedges 

2021

$’000

Notional Amounts Carrying Amount

Within  
1 year

1 through 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Total Assets Liabilities

Interest rate risk

Interest rate contracts 72,000 8,000 6,000 86,000 - (1,148)

Hedge of variable rate 
liabilities  

72,000 8,000 6,000 86,000 - (1,148)

Weighted average fixed interest rate

Hedge of variable rate 
liabilities  

0.05% 0.05% 0.06% 0.05%
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Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

The tables below summarise the derivatives designated as hedging instruments in qualifying cash flow hedge relationships.

2021

$’000

Line item in the statement of financial 
position where the hedging instrument is 
located 

Hedge 
ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss 

Changes in fair 
values used for 
calculating hedge 
ineffectiveness

Cash flow hedge reserve 

Continuing hedges
Discontinued 
hedges

Cash flow hedges 

Interest rate risk Derivative instruments - 2,619 (1,268) -

2020

$’000

Line item in the statement of financial 
position where the hedging instrument is 
located 

Hedge 
ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss 

Changes in fair 
values used for 
calculating hedge 
ineffectiveness

Cash flow hedge reserve 

Continuing hedges
Discontinued 
hedges

Cash flow hedges 

Interest rate risk Derivative instruments - 8 (3,101) -

Cash flow hedges 

2020

$’000

Notional Amounts Carrying Amount

Within  
1 year

1 through 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Total Assets Liabilities

Interest rate risk

Interest rate contracts 12,000 80,000 6,000 98,000 - (3,767)

Hedge of variable rate 
liabilities  

12,000 80,000 6,000 98,000 - (3,767)

Weighted average fixed interest rate

Hedge of variable rate 
liabilities  

0.02% 0.04% 0.18% 0.05%

20 Derivative financial instruments (continued)  

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to market risks and its approach to manage those risks is discussed in Note 27(c).  

Specifically, the Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate fluctuations as it pays floating interest on customer deposit liabilities 
and receives fixed revenues from fixed-rate financial assets. To alleviate the risk of interest rate fluctuations, the Consolidated Entity 
enters into interest rate swaps to receive floating rate interest and pay fixed rate interest to hedge the variability in cash flows on 
the floating rate deposit liabilities attributable to changes in the interest rate. In this way the Consolidated Entity exchanges floating 
rate interest payment, to fixed rate interest payment. The Consolidated Entity has designated cash flow hedge relationships to hedge 
against movements in interest rate and applies hedge accounting on these cash flow hedges.  

The Consolidated Entity assesses hedge effectiveness by comparing the changes in fair value of a hypothetical derivative reflecting 
the terms of the portion of gross interest cash outflows that will result from the repricing or reinvestment of the Consolidated Entity’s 
3 month fixed short term deposit portfolio with the changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps used to hedge the exposure. The 
Consolidated Entity uses the hypothetical derivative method to determine the changes in fair value of the hedged item. 
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21 Provisions

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Annual leave provision 1,959 1,673

Long service leave provision 1,539 1,397

Make good provision 555 761

4,053 3,831

22 Lease liabilities

The gross nominal outflow disclosed below is the contractual, undiscounted cash flow on the Consolidated Entity’s lease liabilities. 
These amounts include variable lease components that are linked to an index (such as consumer price index) at the prevailing 
rate of the index at commencement. The lease liability is remeasured prospectively as this rate changes through the term of the 
lease. 

Undiscounted lease liability

Within 1 year  1,497  1,834 

Over 1 year but less than 5 years  5,328  5,982 

Over 5 years  644  1,371 

 7,469  9,187 

Present value of lease liability 6,649 8,063

23 Other liabilities

Other liabilities mainly includes accrued expenses, sundry creditors and other miscellaneous credit balances. 

   

24 Contributed Equity

230,000,000 ordinary shares fully paid (2020 - 230,000,000 ordinary 
shares fully paid)  

230,000 230,000

The Consolidated Entity has identified the following possible source of ineffectiveness in its cash flow hedge relationships: 
The use of derivatives as a protection against currency and interest rate risk creates an exposure to the derivative counterparty’s 
credit risk which is not offset by the hedged item. This risk is minimised by entering into derivatives with high credit quality 
counterparties.  

No other source of hedge ineffectiveness are expected to affect the cash flow hedging relationship during the year.  

20 Derivative financial instruments (continued)  
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25 Retained profits

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Retained profits at beginning of year 75,249 72,981

Opening balance adjustments (237) - 

Net profit after income tax 6,622 2,060

Transfer (to) / from general reserve for credit losses (179) 208

Retained profits at year-end 81,456 75,249

26 Reserves

General reserve for credit losses

Opening Balance 6,401 6,609

Transfer (to) / from retained profits during the year 179 (208)

Closing Balance 6,579 6,401

Cash flow hedge reserve

Opening Balance (3,101) (3,106)

Transfer from reserves during the year 1,833 5

Closing Balance (1,268) (3,101)

Total reserves 5,311 3,300

24 Contributed Equity (continued)

All shares are fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of $1AUD, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends. 
Bank of Beirut s.a.l. owns 100% of the Consolidated Entity. The Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as 
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.    

There was no additional capital raised during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: $20,000,000).  .

In the event of the winding up of the Consolidated Entity, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders. Creditors are fully 
entitled to any proceeds on liquidation to meet outstanding amounts owing.  

All reserve amounts are shown net of income tax. A General Reserve for Credit Losses (GRCL) represents a reserve established to 
cover credit losses estimated but not certain to arise which is over and above any specific provisions raised for impaired assets. The 
GRCL represents lifetime expected credit losses as referred to in APS 220 Credit Quality. 
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Internal Audit undertakes regular audits of business units and credit processes, including the effectiveness of the Credit Risk 
Management Framework. 

27 Financial risk management         

(a) Introduction and overview         
The Consolidated Entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, 
acceptance and management of these risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and exposures to operational risks are an 
inevitable consequence of being in business. The Consolidated Entity’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between 
risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Consolidated Entity’s financial performance.   

The Consolidated Entity’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Consolidated 
Entity, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Consolidated Entity, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, 
in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework and sets the 
Consolidated Entity’s risk appetite.

The Board Risk Management Committee (‘BRMC’) is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s risk 
management policies and procedures and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by the Consolidated Entity. The Consolidated Entity’s Executive Risk and Compliance Committee assists the Board and the 
BRMC in overseeing all risk management activities that are carried out, for the purpose of identifying, evaluating and managing all 
key business risks.              
  

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from loans and advances to customers and other banks and from investment 
securities. For risk management reporting purposes, credit concentrations are managed on a consolidated basis to ensure that the 
Consolidated Entity is not unduly exposed to a single or small number of counterparties such that their default would adversely 
affect the financial position of the Consolidated Entity. Also, large credit exposures are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis.

For debt securities and other bills, external ratings such as Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s rating, or their equivalents, are used for 
managing credit risk exposures. Investment securities and other bills are utilised in order to maintain a portfolio of high quality liquid 
assets available to meet funding needs as required.          
     

i. Management of credit risk          
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Executive Credit Committee. Risk is 
responsible for monitoring compliance with credit policies on a day to day basis. Responsibilities of Risk include:   
        

• General oversight of the asset quality including the credit grading system, loan portfolio trends and concentration risks; 

• Ensure that lending at all times is within the regulations, recommendations and instructions of the Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority’s credit policies; 

• To prepare reports and returns for management, Board of Directors, and authorities; 

• To monitor that all lending is complying with all external laws, regulations, guidelines, markets and internal Codes of Conduct, 
policies, limits and procedures; and 

• Report to the Board and the Credit Committee any excesses on risk management limits.  
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27 Financial risk management (continued)        

(b) Credit risk (continued)  

              
ii. Exposure to credit risk 

The table below illustrates the Consolidated Entity’s on-balance sheet loans and advances and the associated impairment provision 
for each, according to the Consolidated Entity’s internal grading categories. The exposures set out below are based on carrying 
amounts. 

On balance sheet items

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic and ensuing impacts on the domestic economy, the Bank allowed its customers to enter 
into temporary loan repayment deferrals under its Covid hardship program. As per Note 1(k) the request by a customer for a loan 
repayment deferral was judged to be a SICR and as such any such exposure under Covid hardship was transferred into Stage 2 of the 
Bank’s ECL model. 

2021

$’000

Customer rating 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL
Total

Customer ratings 1-5: Low risk  
to acceptable.

 1,922,693  1,172  1,785  1,925,650 

Customer ratings 6-8: 
Management attention to  
High risk 

 -    41,923  7,190  49,113 

Customer ratings 9-10: Impaired  -    -    50  50 

Total gross carrying 
amount 

 1,922,693  43,095  9,025  1,974,813 

Loss allowance (947) (109) (1,354) (2,410)

Carrying Amount  1,921,746  42,986  7,671  1,972,403 
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2020

$’000

Customer rating 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL
Total

Customer ratings 1-5: Low risk to 
acceptable. 

 1,736,603  1,303  -    1,737,906 

Customer ratings 6-8: Management 
attention to High risk  

 -    239,404  3,089  242,493 

Customer ratings 9-10: 
Impaired 

 -    -    29  29 

Total gross carrying 
amount 

 1,736,603  240,707  3,118  1,980,428 

Loss allowance (1,004) (1,143) (565) (2,712)

Carrying Amount  1,735,599  239,564  2,553  1,977,716 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet:

Loans and advances to customers:

Loans to individuals:

- Retail 1,634,380 1,594,489

Loans to corporate entities:

- Commercial - non property 192,387 287,284

- Commercial - property 148,046 98,655

Due from other financial institutions 93,468 72,024

Investments at amortised cost 448,213 455,619

Derivative financial assets 58 5,267

Total 2,516,552 2,513,338

27 Financial risk management (continued)        

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

On balance sheet items            

A rating of 1 to 10 (inclusive) is applied to each borrowing entity or guarantor.

The Impairment Provision represents the total of the specific and collective provisions as set out in Note 11(a).  

The table below represents the maximum exposure to credit risk of the Consolidated Entity, without taking account any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures equal gross carrying amounts as reported in 
the balance sheet. 
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2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items: 

Financial guarantees 7,074 7,267

Loan commitments and other credit related liabilities 285,452 245,623

Trade finance contingencies 28,412 82,378

Total 320,938 335,268

The Consolidated Entity holds collateral and other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with on balance sheet 
and off balance sheet credit risk exposures. The estimated value of collateral and other credit enhancements amounts to $4,216 
million as at 31 December 2021 ($3,936 million as at 31 December 2020). The estimated value of collateral is based on market value 
of the collateral and is not capped to the value of the exposure.       

Refer to Note 27(b)(iii) for analysis of movement in gross balance and ECL during the year.

Loans and advances past due, though subject to ECL calculation by the Consolidated Entity, are not considered impaired, unless 
other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross value of loans and advances by class to customers that were past 
due, but not impaired, are presented in the table below.  

2021

$’000

Individuals (retail 
customers)

Large  corporate 
customers

SMEs Total

Past due up to 30 days 12,505 1,468 - 13,973

Past due 30- 60 days 1,224 - - 1,224

Past due 60 - 90 days 715 - - 715

Past due more than 90 days 3,967 1,604 3,408 8,979

Total 18,411 3,072 3,408 24,891

27 Financial risk management (continued)        

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
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2020

$’000

Individuals (retail 
customers)

Large  corporate 
customers

SMEs Total

Past due up to 30 days 9,759 585 - 10,344

Past due 30- 60 days 2,971 1 - 2,972

Past due 60 - 90 days 1,765 - - 1,765

Past due more than 90 days 2,742 305 - 3,047

Total 17,237 891 - 18,128

The Consolidated Entity holds collateral with pledged amount totalling $35.5m for assets which are past due but not impaired as at 
31 December 2021 ($62.5m as at 31 December 2020). The pledged amount of collateral is based on market value of the collateral 
and is capped to the value of the total approved loan limit.  

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL 

Please refer to Note 1 (i), (k) and (j) for further details of impaired assets and calculation of ECL in relation to credit risk. 

The Consolidated Entity will use a formulaic approach to adjust for the impacts of macro-economic factors. The formula is a result of 
a regression model which was developed by Group Risk using Australian data sourced from European University Institute (EUI) and 
the World Bank database. The basis of the model consists of three variables: medium & long-term debt, domestic credit growth (%) 
 and budget balance (% of GDP). These variables indicate a strong correlation to non-performing loans     
(NPL). The resultant formula is intended to estimate NPL movements in the future based on the     
forecasts of the variable inputs. 

Three scenarios will be applied to determine the final adjusted provision amount with the weightings as follows: 
Base Case: 60% Weighting 
Good Case: 20% Weighting 
Bad Case: 20% Weighting

Where applicable, model adjustments are made to incorporate reasonable and supportable information about known or expected 
risks that have not been considered in the modelling process.        

27 Financial risk management (continued)        

(b) Credit risk (continued)            
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL (continued)

The table below analyse the movement of the gross balance (gross of provision) of customer loans and advances during the year, 
excluding trade exposures. For trade exposure please refer to the table on page 71    

2021

$‘000s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 TOTAL

Opening Gross Loans & Advances 1 
January 2021

1,607,565 240,703 3,112 1,851,380

Movements:

Closed Loans (323,858) (53,298) - (377,156)

New Loans 543,407 2,454 - 545,861

Transfer to Stage 1 148,000 (145,502) (2,498) - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (19,105) 19,105 - - 

Transfer to Stage 3 - (8,466) 8,466 - 

Movement in Balances (62,646) (11,905) (61) (74,612)

Write-Offs - - - - 

Balance as at 31 December 2021  1,893,363  43,091  9,019  1,945,473 
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2020

$‘000s

Stage 1 Stage 2* Stage 3 TOTAL

Opening Gross Loans & Advances 1 
January 2020

1,859,746 58,358 1,923 1,920,027

Movements:

Closed Loans (323,267) (4,094) (106) (327,467)

New Loans 322,053 13,449 - 335,502

Transfer to Stage 1 73 (73) - - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (174,665) 176,121 (1,456) - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (1,377) (1,397) 2,774 - 

Movement in Balances (74,998) (1,661) (23) (76,682)

Write-Offs - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2020  1,607,565  240,703  3,112  1,851,380 

* As per Note 1(k) Stage 2 includes loan exposures that were on loan repayment deferral periods under COVID-19 hardships.

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL (continued)
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL (continued)  

The table below analyses the movement of the ECL of customer loans and advances during the year, excluding trade exposures.  
   

2021

$‘000s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 TOTAL

Opening ECL 1 January 2021 924 1,143 544 2,610

Movements:

Closed Loans (155) (218) - (373)

New Loans 322 3 - 325

Transfer to Stage 1 975 (712) (263) - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (15) 15 - - 

Transfer to Stage 3 - (88) 88 - 

Increases due to change in credit risk 35 59 1,135 1,229

Decreases due to change in credit risk (1,227) (92) (189) (1,508)

Write-Offs - - - - 

Provisions as at 31 December 2021  859  110  1,315  2,283 
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2020

$‘000s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 TOTAL

Opening ECL 1 January 2020 707 268 167 1,141

Movements:

Closed Loans (214) (26) (15) (255)

New Loans 119 11 - 130

Transfer to Stage 1 11 (3) (7) 1

Transfer to Stage 2 (89) 171 (82) - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (1) (17) 18 - 

Increases due to change in credit risk 554 934 455 1,943

Decreases due to change in credit risk (163) (195) 8 (350)

Write-Offs - - - - 

Provisions as at 31 December 2020  924  1,143  544  2,610 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL (continued)         
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued)

iii. Impaired assets and calculation of ECL (continued)

The tables below analyses the movement of the gross balance and ECL, respectively, of Treasury assets and trade exposures with 
Bank counterparties during the year.

2021

$'000

      Gross Balance  ECL

Due from other 
financial institutions

Investments at 
amortised cost

Loan and 
advances-Trade

Due from 
other financial 

institutions

Investments at 
amortised cost

Loan and 
advances-Trade

Stage 1 93,468 448,213 29,329 3 313 87

Stage 2 - - - - - - 

Stage 3 52 - - 2 - - 

Total 93,520 448,213 29,329 5 313 87

2020

$'000

      Gross Balance  ECL

Due from other 
financial institutions

Investments at 
amortised cost

Loan and 
advances-Trade

Due from 
other financial 

institutions

Investments at 
amortised cost

Loan and 
advances-Trade

Stage 1 72,002 455,619 129,048 18 204 80

Stage 2  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Stage 3  22  -    -    1  -    -   

Total 72,024 455,619 129,048 19 204 80
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(b) Credit risk (continued)

iv. Settlement risk  

The Consolidated Entity’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the 
risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually 
agreed.        

For certain types of transactions, the Consolidated Entity mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a clearing agent 
to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits 
form part of the credit approval/limit monitoring process described earlier. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades 
requires transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals from Group Risk Management.    

The table below presents an analysis of gross investments and financial assets due from other financial institutions by rating agency 
designation based on Moody’s (or their equivalent) ratings. 

2021

$'000

Investments at amortised cost Due from other financial institutions Total

Aa3 - Aa1  167,554  31,707 199,261

A3 - A1  215,149  57,412 272,561

Baa3 - Baa1  65,510  4,295 69,805

Unrated  -    52 52

Total 448,213 93,466 541,679

2020

$'000

Investments at amortised cost Due from other financial institutions Total

Aa3 - Aa1 225,975 67,536 293,511

A3 - A1 164,085 2 164,087

Baa3 - Baa1 65,559 4,464 70,023

Unrated - 22 22

Total 455,619 72,024 527,643
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

   

(c) Market risk

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate and foreign currency 
instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or 
prices such as interest rates, credit spreads and foreign exchange rates.     

Market risk arising from non-trading activities are concentrated in Treasury and are separately monitored by Risk. Regular reports are 
submitted to the Board of Directors and the Assets and Liabilities Committee (‘ALCO’). 

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Consolidated Entity’s retail and commercial 
banking assets and liabilities. Foreign exchange risks arise from the Consolidated Entity’s non-trading portfolios of investments at 
amortised cost.       

        
i. Interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair 
values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally through 
monitoring interest rate gaps, and by having pre-approved limits for re-pricing bands.      

Refer to Note 27(c)(iii) for result of sensitivity analysis on interest rate movement.     

The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by Risk in its day-to-day monitoring activities.  

The following tables represent the Consolidated Entity’s non-trading portfolios by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity 
date. The total will not reconcile to the Consolidated Entity’s total assets on the balance sheet as non-financial assets have been 
excluded from the table below.     
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(c) Market risk (continued) 

i. Interest rate risk (continued)   

2021

$'000

The earlier of maturity or repricing date

Notes
Floating 
Interest 

Rate1

1 Year or 
less

Over 1 to 5 
Years

More than 
 5 Years

Non-
interest  
bearing

Total

Financial assets

Cash and liquid assets 7 47,541 - - - - 47,541

Due from other financial institutions 8 93,351 112 - - - 93,463

Investments at amortised cost 9 294,925 114,208 32,611 6,156 - 447,900

Loans and advances 10 1,701,865 60,950 209,588 - - 1,972,403

Derivative financial assets 20 58 - - - - 58

2,137,740 175,270 242,199 6,156 - 2,561,365

Financial liabilities

Due to financial institutions 17 4,572 - - - - 4,572

Borrowings 18 - - 251,596 - - 251,596

Deposits 19 720,418 1,342,536 1,040 - - 2,063,994

Derivative financial liabilities 20 1,275 - - - - 1,275

726,265 1,342,536 252,636 - - 2,321,437

Interest rate swaps2 86,000 (72,000) (8,000) (6,000) - - 

Interest rate gap 1,497,475 (1,239,266) (18,437) 156 - 239,928

1. Includes assets and liabilities for which the Consolidated Entity or the counter party has the contractual right to reset interest rate at any time. 

2. Notional principal amounts         
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(c) Market risk (continued) 

i. Interest rate risk (continued)   

2020

$'000

The earlier of maturity or repricing date

Notes
Floating 
Interest 

Rate1

1 Year or 
less

Over 1 to 5 
Years

More than  
5 Years

Non-
interest  
bearing

Total

Financial assets

Cash and liquid assets 7 35,300 - - - - 35,300

Due from other financial institutions 8 72,024 - - - - 72,024

Investments at amortised cost 9 339,054 39,611 70,788 6,166 - 455,619

Loans and advances 10 1,977,452 - 4 37 - 1,977,493

Derivative financial assets 20 5,267 - - - - 5,267

2,429,097 39,611 70,792 6,203 - 2,545,703

Financial liabilities

Due to financial institutions 17 3,670 - - - - 3,670

Borrowings 18 - - 62,468 - - 62,468

Deposits 19 651,845 1,579,774 - - - 2,231,619

Derivative financial liabilities 20 4,036 - - - - 4,036

659,551 1,579,774 62,468 - - 2,301,793

Interest rate swaps2 98,000 (12,000) (80,000) (6,000) - - 

Interest rate gap 1,867,546 (1,552,163) (71,676) 203 - 243,910

1. Includes assets and liabilities for which the Consolidated Entity or the counter party has the contractual right to reset interest rate at any time. 

2. Notional principal amounts         
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(c) Market risk (continued) 

ii. Foreign exchange risk 

The Consolidated Entity does not hold a trading book (positions created from trading activities with a speculative purpose). The 
Consolidated Entity is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial 
position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day 
positions, which are monitored daily. The table below summarises the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency exchange 
rate risk at year-end.

2021

$’000

EUR USD GBP AUD
Other 

currency
Total

Cash and liquid assets 242 205 54 47,040 - 47,541

Due from other financial institutions 1,641 8,956 2,210 80,639 17 93,463

Investments at amortised cost - - - 447,900 - 447,900

Loans and advances - 31,963 - 1,940,440 - 1,972,403

Derivative financial asset - - - 58 - 58

Intangible assets - - - 12,704 - 12,704

Property, plant and equipment - - - 51,930 - 51,930

Investment Property - - - 19,964 - 19,964

Deferred tax assets - - - 3,090 - 3,090

Other assets - - - 8,011 - 8,011

Total assets 1,883 41,124 2,264 2,611,776 17 2,657,064

Due to other financial institutions - - - 4,572 - 4,572

Borrowings - - - 251,596 - 251,596

Deposits 23,174 33,894 2,266 2,004,658 2 2,063,994

Derivative liabilities - - - 1,275 - 1,275

Provisions - - - 4,053 - 4,053

Lease liabilities - - - 6,649 - 6,649

Other liabilities - - - 6,253 - 6,253

Total liabilities 23,174 33,894 2,266 2,279,056 2 2,338,392

Net on-balance sheet position (21,291) 7,230 (2) 332,720 15 318,672

Effect of derivatives held for 

risk management  
15,934 (3,277) - - - 12,657

Net currency position (5,357) 3,953 (2) 332,720 15 331,329
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(c) Market risk (continued) 

ii. Foreign exchange risk (continued)      
   

2020

$’000

EUR USD GBP AUD
Other 

currency
Total

Cash and liquid assets 401 219 66 34,609 6 35,301

Due from other financial institutions 1,044 2,634 2,726 65,558 43 72,005

Investments at amortised cost - - - 455,415 - 455,415

Loans and advances 187 135,299 - 1,842,230 - 1,977,716

Derivative financial asset - - - 5,267 - 5,267

Intangible assets - - - 10,501 - 10,501

Property, plant and equipment - - - 51,580 - 51,580

Investment Property - - - 20,497 - 20,497

Deferred tax assets - - - 4,129 - 4,129

Other assets - - - 10,074 - 10,074

Total assets 1,632 138,152 2,792 2,499,860 49 2,642,485

Due to other financial institutions - - - 3,670 - 3,670

Borrowings - - - 62,468 - 62,468

Deposits 26,658 36,003 2,806 2,166,126 26 2,231,619

Derivative liabilities - - - 4,036 - 4,036

Provisions - - - 3,831 - 3,831

Lease liabilities                         - - - 8,063 - 8,063

Other liabilities - - - 20,248 - 20,248

Total liabilities             26,658 36,003 2,806 2,268,442 26 2,333,935

Net on-balance sheet position (25,026) 102,149 (14) 231,418 23 308,550

Effect of derivatives held for  
risk management  

             24,841 (104,841) - - - (80,000)

Net currency position                (185) (2,692) (14) 231,418 23 228,550
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27 Financial risk management (continued)    

(c) Market risk (continued) 

iii. Sensitivity analysis

The management of interest rate and foreign exchange risk against interest rate and foreign currency limits is supplemented by 
monitoring the sensitivity of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and liabilities to potential standard interest rate and currency 
fluctuations.         

 
Interest Rate Sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk is performed using the methodology of GAP IRR. The GAP IRR methodology is a 
method of measuring interest rate sensitivity by classifying interest rate sensitive assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items. The 
instruments are split into specific pre-defined time buckets according to their maturity for fixed rate instruments, or till next re-
pricing date for variable rate instruments. The size of the gap position can then be determined in each of the respective time buckets. 
A cumulative gap can also then be given after summing up the individual time bucket gaps. Result of the analysis is as follows: 

Increase / (decrease) to profit 

$

2021 2020

Increase in yield curve of 50 basis points  233,299 889,287

Decrease in yield curve of 50 basis points  (233,229) (889,287)

Increase / (decrease) to profit 

$

2021 2020

Increase in exchange rates of 10%  (6,028) (10,625)

Decrease in exchange rates of 10% 7,368 13,000

Exchange Rate Sensitivity 
The sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk is performed by calculating the impact on the Consolidated Entity’s net currency 
exposure in the case of a 10% increase or decrease in all foreign currency exchange rates. Result of the analysis is as follows:

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial instruments. 
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the RBA made available a 3 year funding facility to assist with liquidity for ADIs. The Bank has 
fully drawn on that facility in 2021. Refer to Note 18 for more details.       

The Consolidated Entity measures and manages this risk based on an analysis of the maturity profile. The management of liquidity 
risk for the Consolidated Entity is based on the following:      

i. Measurement and limitation of maturity profile 

The maturity profile is measured on a daily basis by monitoring the mismatch of maturing assets against maturing liabilities within 
prescribed maturity buckets. The cumulative maturity mismatch limit is -2% out to seven days with an internal trigger of 0.5% and 
the cumulative negative mismatch out to one month must not exceed 15% of total liabilities.    

The gross nominal outflow disclosed below is the contractual, undiscounted cash flow on the financial liability. The balances include 
the expected interest payable on maturity. The disclosure for derivatives shows a net amount for derivatives that are net settled, but 
a gross inflow and outflow amount for derivatives that have simultaneous gross settlement. 
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27 Financial risk management (continued)       

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)     

2021

$’000

Repayable on 
demand

3 months or 
less

Over 3 
months but 

less than 1 
year

Over 1 year 
but less than 

5 years
Over 5 years Total

Non-derivative liabilities

Due to other financial institutions 4,572 - - - - 4,572

Borrowings - - - 251,596 - 251,596

Deposits 537,977 996,138 528,839 1,040 - 2,063,994

542,549 996,138 528,839 252,636 - 2,320,162

Derivative liabilities

Derivatives held for hedging:

- Interest rate swaps - 49 408 216 476 1,149

- Foreign currency swaps - 126 - - - 126

- 175 408 216 476 1,275

Off balance sheet commitments

Bank guarantee 7,074 - - - - 7,074

Loan commitments 285,452 - - - - 285,452

Trade Finance contingencies 28,412 - - - - 28,412

320,938 - - - - 320,938

Total 863,487 996,313 529,247 252,852 476 2,642,375
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2020

$’000

Repayable on 
demand

3 months or 
less

Over 3 
months but 

less than 1 
year

Over 1 year 
but less than 

5 years
Over 5 years Total

Non-derivative liabilities

Due to other financial institutions 3,671 - - - - 3,671

Borrowings - - - 62,468 - 62,468

Deposits 651,135 966,779 613,706 - - 2,231,620

654,806 966,779 613,706 62,468 - 2,297,759

Derivative liabilities

Derivatives held for hedging:

- Interest rate swaps - - 142 2,526 1,099 3,767

- Foreign currency swaps - 269 - - - 269

- 269 142 2,526 1,099 4,036

Off balance sheet commitments

Bank guarantee 7,267 - - - - 7,267

Loan commitments 245,623 - - - - 245,623

Trade Finance contingencies 82,378 - - - - 82,378

335,268 - - - - 335,268

Total 990,074 967,048 613,848 64,994 1,099 2,637,063

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

27 Financial risk management (continued)       

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)     
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28 Capital management        

The Consolidated Entity’s regulator, Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), sets minimum capital requirements for 
the Consolidated Entity. The Board determines the internal capital requirements of the Bank. In implementing current capital 
requirements, APRA requires the Consolidated Entity to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.

The Consolidated Entity’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:

•  Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, retained earnings after deductions for intangible assets;  

• Tier 2 capital, which includes general reserve for credit losses. 

      

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base.         

Risk weighted assets are determined according to specific requirements that seek to reflect the varying level of risk attached to 
assets and off-balance sheet exposures. Regulatory capital is managed using the Basel III standard methodology. 

The Consolidated Entity has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. There have been no 
material changes in the Consolidated Entity’s management of capital during the period.     

The Board has a duty to ensure that the level and quality of capital are maintained commensurate with the type, amount and 
concentration of risks to which the Consolidated Entity is exposed from its activities. In doing so, the Board must have regards to any 
prospective changes in the Consolidated Entity’s risk profile and capital holdings.

Capital management must be an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s risk management framework through the alignment of its 
risk appetite and risk profile to its capacity to absorb losses.

The processes and procedures of managing capital are set out in the Consolidated Entity’s Capital Management Plan (CMP). The 
CMP sets out the responsibilities for the monitoring, managing and reporting of the Consolidated Entity’s capital position. The 
strategic planning process incorporates the capital requirements to support projected loan growth. 

Full disclosures required under Pillar 3, per prudential standard APS 330 “Public Disclosure”, are provided on the Consolidated 
Entity’s website.         
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2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Tier 1 Capital 294,819 289,691

Add Tier 2 Capital: General reserve for credit losses 9,399   9,144

Total Regulatory Capital 304,218 298,835

Risk weighted assets 1,409,998 1,369,401

Capital Ratios

Total regulatory capital as % of risk weighted assets 21.58% 21.82%

Total Tier 1 capital as % of risk weighted assets 20.91% 21.15%

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

28 Capital management (continued)
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29 Fair value measurement  

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions: 
 
Cash and liquid assets

The carrying values of cash and liquid assets approximate their fair values, as they are short term in nature.    
 
Due from other financial institutions

The carrying value of amounts due from other financial institutions approximates their fair value, as they are short term.   
 
Investments at amortised cost 

For fixed term deposits and bank bills, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of net fair value, as they are short term in nature. 
The net fair value of floating rate notes and fixed rate bonds are calculated by using current bid price in an active market.   
  
Loans and advances

The carrying value of loans and advances is net of specific provisions for impairment. For variable loans and loans with rates fixed for 
a period less than six months, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of net fair value. The fair value of fixed rate loans greater 
than six months was calculated by discounting the future interest cash flows using a discount rate based on the current market rate, 
assuming constant interest rate spreads, for the average remaining term. 

    
Due to other financial institutions, securities sold and repurchase agreement, and deposits 

The carrying value of amounts due within six months to other financial institutions and other depositors, and securities sold and 
repurchase agreement approximate their net fair value. The net fair value of liabilities with a longer maturity has been determined by 
using the discount methodology described above. 
 
Interest rate swaps

The net fair value of interest rate swap instruments have been determined by valuing them at the current market rates, being the 
discounted present value of the future cash flows.         
 
FX swaps and foreign currency forward contracts 

The fair value of FX swap and foreign currency forward contract instruments have been determined by valuing them at the current 
market value, being the discounted present value of the future cash flows.       
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2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Financial 
instruments 
measured at

Carrying
value Fair value Carrying

value Fair value

Assets

Cash and liquid assets Amortised cost 47,541 47,541 35,300 35,300

Due from other financial 
institutions

Amortised cost 93,463 93,463 72,005 72,005

Investments at amortised 
cost

Amortised cost 447,900 448,991 455,415 461,973

Loans and advances Amortised cost 1,972,403 1,971,424 1,977,716 1,978,682

Derivative financial assets FVTPL 58 58 5,267 5,267

Liabilities

Due to other financial 
institutions

Amortised cost 4,572 4,572 3,670 3,670

Securities sold and under 
repurchase agreements

Amortised cost 251,596 251,596 62,468 62,468

Deposits Amortised cost 2,063,994 2,065,153 2,231,619 2,233,975

Derivative financial liabilities FVTPL 1,148 1,148 3,767 3,767

Fair value hierarchy  

The different levels have been defined as follows:  

• Level 1: quoted prices (adjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). For example, interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted 
intervals, volatilities or credit risk;

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.     
        

All assets and liabilities that the Consolidated Entity carries at fair value through profit and loss are classified as Level 2 in the fair 
value hierarchy.         

              
  

29 Fair value measurement (continued)

 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:
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2021 2020

$ $

Audit or review of the financial report

Group 35,112 75,306

Local statutory reporting 154,655 221,107

Statutory assurance services required by legislation to be provided by the 
auditor     

63,641 60,407

Other assurance and agreed-upon procedures under legislation or 
conctracual arrangements   

34,650 36,960

Taxation services 62,370 60,962

Other non-audit services 30,030 19,250

Total 380,457 473,992

31 Commitments and contingencies

The Consolidated Entity has financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing 
needs of its customers and to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. 

Details of financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk are as follows (Face value in $000s): 

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Credit related instruments:

Letters of Guarantee given in the normal course of business 7,074 7,267

Commitments to extend credit 285,452 245,623

Trade finance contingencies 28,412 82,378

Total 320,938 335,268

30 Auditors’ remuneration 

Amounts paid or due and payable to the Auditors of the Consolidated Entity for:
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2021 2020

$80,000 - $89,999 2 2

$90,000 - $99,999 3 3

$100,000 - $109,999 2 2

$150,000 - $159,999 1 1

8 8

Total income received, or due and receivable, by all Directors of the Consolidated Entity:
 
 

$ $

Short term benefits 745,014 713,308

Other long term benefits 83,175 78,276

Total benefits to non-executive Directors 828,189 791,584

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

32 Directors’ remuneration 

Directors’ income 
The number of Directors of the Consolidated Entity whose income from the Consolidated Entity or related bodies corporate falls 
within the following bands:

33 Key management personnel disclosures   

Unless otherwise indicated the following were key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity during the reporting period: 
          

Non-executive Directors      

Mr Nicholas Pappas AM (Chairman)      

Mr Nikolas T Hatzistergos       

Mr Greg Gav       

Mr Hon Steve Bracks AC       

Mr Fouad Chaker      

Mr Ben Edney       

Mr Roger Dagher       

Mr Sarkis Nassif      
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2021 2020

$ $

Short term benefits 2,450,027 2,584,242

Long term benefits 60,815 9,749

Other long term benefits 162,387 146,392

Total benefit 2,673,229 2,740,383

 
Details of non-executive Directors’ remuneration are set out separately in Note 32. No other remuneration benefits were paid to 
key management personnel.          

Loans and other transactions to key management personnel 

Details of loans and other transactions with key management personnel, including their related parties, are as follows: 

2021 2020

$ $

Loans to key management personnel 22,097,118 7,191,204

Deposit accounts 43,255,730 66,590,073

For all loans and deposits to key management personnel, interest is determined at prevailing market rates and are on normal 
commercial terms and conditions. Further, loans provided are secured by collateral.  

Executives      

Mr Miltiades Michaelas (Chief Executive Officer)       

Mr Victor Andersson (Chief Financial Officer)      

Mr Bill Kalpouzanis (Chief Operating Officer)      

Mr Gary English (Chief Risk Officer)       

Mr Fawaz Sankari (Chief Banking Officer)      

Ms Diana Sitnikoski (Chief - Credit Operations)          

Mr Chris Chew (Chief Technology Officer)      

      

Transactions with key management personnel      

The key management personnel benefits included in staff expenses are as follows:     
 

33 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)   
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Director Transaction 2021 2020

$ $

Mr Greg Gav Rental Payments 295,091 914,050

Mr Sarkis Nassif Rental Payments 194,950 190,144

33 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

Other key management personnel transactions with the Consolidated Entity

Key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or 
significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.   

One of those entities transacted with the Company in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of the transaction were no 
more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director 
related entities on an arm’s length basis. Details are as follows:        
 

34 Related party transactions 

(a) Transactions within the wholly-owned group

During the financial year the Consolidated Entity engaged in banking transactions with Bank of Beirut s.a.l., and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. All transactions were on normal terms and conditions. Please refer to Notes 2, 3, 8, 9, 16, 17 and 20 for details of 
transactions and balances within the wholly-owned group. 

(b) Transactions with other related parties 

During the period the Consolidated Entity engaged in banking transactions with associated companies of Bank of Beirut s.a.l. All 
transactions were on normal commercial terms and conditions.    

Please refer to Notes 2, 3, 8, 9, 16, 17 and 20 for details of transactions and balances within the wholly-owned group.  

(c) Ultimate parent entity  

The ultimate parent entity of the Consolidated Entity is Bank of Beirut s.a.l., a company incorporated in Lebanon. 

(d) Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel and their close family members are also considered related parties. Transactions  and balances with 
them are disclosed in Note 32. The related party disclosures in consolidated statement of profit and loss do not include interest 
income or expense on Key Management Personnel loans and deposits.

35 Notes to the statement of cash flows 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and short term deposits at call. Cash as at 
the end of the period as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:  
 
(a) Reconciliation of cash          

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Cash 47,541 35,300

Due from other financial institutions - at call deposits 93,468 72,023

Total Cash and cash equivalents 141,009 107,323
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35 Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued) 

   

(b) Reconciliation of profit from ordinary activities after income tax to net cash used in operating activities   
          

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax 6,622 2,061

Add: non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 5,603 7,409

Increase/(Decrease) in specific provision 18 (48)

Increase/(Decrease) in ECL (223) 1,388

Increase in provision for employee entitlements 727 598

Decrease in tax provision 253 (535)

Net Increase in accruals 745 (2,851)

Loss on writing off Property, plant and equipment 133 1,786

Loss from Loan write offs (2) (2)

Increase in derivative financial instruments 318 (1,595)

(Increases)/decreases in assets and increases/(decreases)in liabilities:

Loans and advances 2,871 83,018

Derivative Assets 4,891 (449)

Other assets 2,064 (2,354)

Due to other financial institutions 902 (961)

Deposits (165,526) (206,340)

Derivative liabilities (142) 182

Other liabilities (12,747) 4,086

Net cash used in operating activities (153,492) (114,607)
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(c) Net reporting of certain cash flows

Cash flows arising from the following activities have been presented on a net basis in the statement of cash flows: 
  
i. Money market trading and lending activities;          
ii. Customer deposits to and withdrawals from savings, money market and other deposit accounts; and    
iii. Balances due to and from other financial institutions.         
           

35 Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued)         
       

36 Events subsequent to balance date

As at the date of these financial statements the Directors of the Consolidated Entity have considered the financial effects of 
COVID-19 on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements and consider the Bank a going concern. 

No other events have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2021 that require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements.   

       

37 Parent entity information  

The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, are the 
same as those applied to the Consolidated Entity. Refer to Note 1 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the 
Consolidated Entity.         
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Financial Statements 

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

37 Parent entity information (continued)

Financial Position 

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Assets

Cash and liquid assets 47,541 35,300

Due from other financial institutions 39,599 21,843

Receivable from securitisation Trust 53,864 50,162

Investments at amortised cost 447,900 455,415

Loans and advances

- Held by Parent Entity  1,388,139 1,275,082

- Held by Trust subject to securitisation  584,264 702,634

Derivative financial assets 58 5,267

Intangible assets 12,704 10,501

Property, plant and equipment 51,930 51,580

Investment Property 19,964 20,497

Deferred tax assets 3,090 4,129

Investment in Securitisation Trust - Notes A and B 638,119 752,498

Other assets 8,011 10,075

Total assets 3,295,183 3,394,983

Liabilities

Due to other financial institutions 4,572 3,670

Borrowings 251,596 62,468

Deposits 2,063,994 2,231,619

Derivative liabilities 1,275 4,036

Intergroup Payable to Trust 638,119 752,498

Provisions 4,053 3,831

Lease Liability 6,649 8,063

Other liabilities 8,158 20,248

Total liabilities 2,978,416 3,086,433

Net assets 316,767 308,550
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Name of 
securitisation

Principal activity
Place of 
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of ownership
interest by the Consolidate
Entity

BHB Residential Securities 

Trust 1

Contingent Liquidity 

Reserve Facility
Australia 100%

Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

37 Parent entity information (continued) 

Financial Position (continued)           
       

38 Securitisation 

Details of the Consolidated Entity’s internal securitisation at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

  2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Equity

Contributed equity 230,000 230,000

Reserves 5,311 3,300

Retained profits 81,456 75,249

Total equity 316,767 308,549

Financial Performance

Profit for the year 6,622 2,060

Other comprehensive income 1,833 5

Total comprehensive income 8,455 2,065

At 31 December 2021, BHB Residential Securities Trust 1 (‘the Trust’) owes Bank of Sydney (‘the Company’) $638,119 thousand 
which was eliminated on consolidated account level (2020: $752,498 thousand). During 2021, the Company received $20,313 
thousand as interest income (2020: $25,072 thoursand) and incurred $8,859 thousand in operating expenses (2020: $9,549 
thousand) from its 100% owned internal securitisation of the Trust which was also fully eliminated on consolidated account level. 
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Bank of Sydney Ltd     

Notes to and forming part of the financial report (continued)     

For the year ended 31 December 2021     

Internal Securitisation assets

  

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Residential Mortgage 584,264 702,634

Cash and accrued income 53,864 50,162

638,128 752,796

Note: cash and accrued income are held by the asset securitisation vehicles, which have not yet been distributed to the note holders.  
        

38 Securitisation (continued)

 

During 2013, the Company packaged equitable interests in residential mortgage backed mortgage loans and transferred to the 
Trust, which issued securities backed by the same loans and sold back to the Company. The Company retained risks and rewards of 
the subject loans as being the sole unit holder and beneficiary of the Trust in this “internal securitisation” program. The purpose of 
setting up the Trust was to provide a contingency liquidity reserve facility to meet any future liquidity crisis that the Company may 
face due to either internal or external factors.   

On 22 February 2021, the Company carried out a “top-up” of the Trust in order to meet Securitisation contingency funding 
requirements, which includes buying back of Class A Notes issued in 2020 with carrying amount of $858.7m at nil consideration and 
reissuing new Class A Notes of $814.7m. There was also an redemption of Class B Notes of $3m.The additional proceeds of $200.1m 
from the Note Issue were used to purchase a further parcel of triple A rated Residential Mortgage Loans from the Company. Class A 
Notes qualify as eligible securities for repurchase with the Reserve Bank of Australia.  

As the Company owns 100% of the issued units in the Trust and has control over the Trust as defined in AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Trust will be accounted for as the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary.  

Where relevant, credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk arising from internal securitisation transactions are captured and monitored 
in the Consolidated Entity’s normal risk management framework and processes. The table below presents assets securitised by the 
Consolidated Entity:     
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Directors Declaration 

Bank of Sydney Ltd

In the opinion of the Directors of the Consolidated Entity:        
          

(a) the financial statements, set out on pages 23 to 93, are in accordance with the Corporation Act 2001, including:  

i. giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its performance, for the 
financial year ended on that date;         

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001;       

     

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Consolidated Entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

            

The Directors draw attention to Note 1(b) to the financial statements, which include a statement of compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.         

          

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.    
       

On behalf of the Directors          

          

          

     

     

Nicholas Pappas           
Chairman          

         

Sydney, 21 April 2022         

Nikolas Hatzistergos 
Non-Executive Independent Director 
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IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReeppoorrtt  ttoo  tthhee  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  BBaannkk  
ooff  SSyyddnneeyy  LLttdd  

  
  
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Bank of Sydney Ltd and its subsidiary (the “Consolidated 
Entity”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 
the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 
director’s declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 

2021 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and   

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
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Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Report included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual financial report for the year ended 31 December 
2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Consolidated Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Consolidated Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
  
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Consolidated 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 

 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 

 
 
Rebecca Jones 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 22 April 2022 
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